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NOTICE TO INVESTORS

Our Company has furnished and accepts full responsibility for all of the information contained in this Preliminary Placement
Document and confirms that to the best of its knowledge and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, this Preliminary
Placement Document contains all information with respect to our Company, its Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures, Associate and the
Equity Shares, which we consider material in the context of the Issue. The statements contained in this Preliminary Placement
Document relating to our Company, its Subsidiaries, its Joint Ventures, its Associate and the Equity Shares are in all material
respects, true, accurate and not misleading, and the opinions and intentions expressed in this Preliminary Placement Document
with regard to our Company, its Subsidiaries, its Joint Ventures, its Associate and the Equity Shares are honestly held, have
been reached after considering all relevant circumstances and are based on reasonable assumptions and information presently
available to our Company. There are no other facts in relation to our Company, its Subsidiaries, its Joint Ventures, its Associate
and the Equity Shares, the omission of which would, in the context of the Issue, make any statement in this Preliminary
Placement Document misleading in any material respect. Further, our Company has made all reasonable enquiries to ascertain
such facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information and statements.

Kotak Mahindra Capital Company Limited, Axis Capital Limited, CLSA India Private Limited and DSP Merrill Lynch Limited
(the “Book Running Lead Managers”) have not separately verified the information contained in this Preliminary Placement
Document (financial, legal, or otherwise). Accordingly, neither the Book Running Lead Managers, nor any of their respective
shareholders, employees, counsel, officers, directors, representatives, agents, associates or affiliates make any express or
implied representation, warranty or undertaking, and no responsibility or liability is accepted by the Book Running Lead
Managers or any of their respective shareholders, employees, counsel, officers, directors, representatives, agents, associates or
affiliates as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Preliminary Placement Document or any other
information supplied in connection with the Company, its Subsidiaries, its Joint Ventures, its Associate and the Issue of the
Equity Shares or their distribution. Each person receiving this Preliminary Placement Document acknowledges that such person
has not relied on any of the Book Running Lead Managers or on any of their respective shareholders, employees, counsel,
officers, directors, representatives, agents, associates or affiliates in connection with such person’s investigation of the accuracy
of such information or such person’s investment decision, and each such person must rely on its own examination of our
Company, its Subsidiaries, its Joint Ventures and its Associate and the merits and risks involved in investing in the Equity
Shares issued pursuant to the Issue.

No person is authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in this Preliminary Placement
Document and any information or representation not so contained must not be relied upon as having been authorised by or on
behalf of our Company, or by or on behalf of the Book Running Lead Managers. The delivery of this Preliminary Placement
Document at any time does not imply that the information contained in it is correct as of any time subsequent to its date.

The Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to the Issue have not been approved, disapproved or recommended by any
regulatory authority in any jurisdiction, including the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), any
other federal or state authorities in the United States, the securities authorities of any non-United States jurisdiction
and any other United States or non-United States regulatory authority. No authority has passed on or endorsed the
merits of the Issue or the accuracy or adequacy of this Preliminary Placement Document. Any representation to the
contrary is a criminal offense in the United States and may be a criminal offence in other jurisdictions.

The Equity Shares have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act, and may not be offered or sold within the
United States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the
Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. Accordingly, the Equity Shares are being offered and sold by the Company
(a) in the United States only to persons reasonably believed to be qualified institutional buyers (as defined in Rule 144A under
the Securities Act) pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) under the Securities Act, and (b) outside the United States, in offshore
transactions, in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act and the applicable laws of the jurisdiction where those offers
and sales occur. For further information, see “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions” on pages 152 and 159,
respectively.

The information contained in this Preliminary Placement Document has been provided by our Company and other sources
identified herein. The distribution of this Preliminary Placement Document or the disclosure of its contents without the prior
consent of the Company to any person, other than Eligible QIBs specified by the Book Running Lead Managers or their
representatives, and those retained by Eligible QIBs to advise them with respect to their subscription of the Equity Shares is
unauthorized and prohibited. Each prospective investor, by accepting delivery of this Preliminary Placement Document, agrees
to observe the foregoing restrictions and to make no copies of this Preliminary Placement Document or any documents referred
to in this Preliminary Placement Document. Any reproduction or distribution of this Preliminary Placement Document, in whole
or in part, and any disclosure of its contents to any other person is prohibited.

The distribution of this Preliminary Placement Document and the issue of the Equity Shares may be restricted in certain
jurisdictions by applicable laws. As such, this Preliminary Placement Document does not constitute, and may not be used for,
or in connection with, an offer or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised
or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation. In particular, no action has been taken by our



Company and the Book Running Lead Managers which would permit an offering of the Equity Shares or distribution of this
Preliminary Placement Document in any jurisdiction, other than India, where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly,
the Equity Shares may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Preliminary Placement Document, nor any
offering material in connection with the Equity Shares may be distributed or published in or from any country or jurisdiction,
except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable rules and regulations of any such country or
jurisdiction. For further details, see “Selling Restrictions” on page 152.

In making an investment decision, the prospective investors must rely on their own examination of our Company, its
Subsidiaries, its Joint Ventures, its Associate and the Equity Shares and the terms of the Issue, including the merits and risks
involved. The prospective investor should not construe the contents of this Preliminary Placement Document as legal, tax,
accounting or investment advice. The prospective investors should consult their own counsel and advisors as to business, legal,
tax, accounting and related matters concerning the Issue. In addition, neither our Company nor the Book Running Lead
Managers are making any representation to any investor, purchaser, offeree or subscriber to the Equity Shares in relation to this
Issue regarding the legality of an investment in the Equity Shares by such investor, purchaser, offeree or subscriber under
applicable legal, investment or similar laws or regulations. The prospective investors of the Equity Shares should conduct their
own due diligence on the Equity Shares and our Company.

Each investor, purchaser, offeree or subscriber of the Equity Shares is deemed to have acknowledged, represented and agreed
that it is eligible to invest in India and in our Company under Indian law, including under Chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations and Section 42 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Rule 14 of the PAS Rules and that it is not prohibited by
SEBI or any other statutory, regulatory or judicial authority in India or any other jurisdiction from buying, selling or dealing in
the securities including the Equity Shares or otherwise accessing the capital markets in India.

This Preliminary Placement Document contains summaries of certain terms of documents, which summaries are qualified in
their entirety by the terms and conditions of such documents.

The information on our Company’s website, www.godrejproperties.com, any website directly and indirectly linked to the
website of our Company or on the respective websites of the Book Running Lead Managers and of their affiliates, does not
constitute nor form part of this Preliminary Placement Document. The prospective investors should not rely on any such
information contained in, or available through, any such websites.

NOTICE TO INVESTORS IN CERTAIN OTHER JURISDICTIONS

For information to investors in certain other jurisdictions, see “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions” on pages
152 and 159, respectively.



REPRESENTATIONS BY INVESTORS

All references to “you” and “your” in this section are to the prospective investors in the Issue. By Bidding for and/or subscribing
to any Equity Shares under the Issue, you are deemed to have represented, warranted, acknowledged and agreed to our Company
and the Book Running Lead Managers, as follows:

1.

You are a “Qualified Institutional Buyer” as defined in Regulation 2(1)(ss) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and not
excluded pursuant to Regulation 179(2)(b) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, having a valid and existing registration
under applicable laws and regulations of India, and undertake to (i) acquire, hold, manage or dispose of any Equity
Shares that are Allotted (hereinafter defined) to you in accordance with Chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations,
the Companies Act, 2013 and all other applicable laws; and (ii) comply with all requirements under applicable law in
this relation, including reporting obligations, requirements/ making necessary filings, if any, in connection with the
Issue;

That you are eligible to invest in India under applicable law, including the FEMA Regulations (as defined hereinafter),
and have not been prohibited by SEBI or any other regulatory authority, statutory authority or otherwise, from buying,
selling or dealing in securities or otherwise accessing capital markets in India;

If you are not a resident of India, but are an Eligible QIB, you are a foreign portfolio investor, and you confirm that
you are an Eligible FPI as defined in this Preliminary Placement Document and have a valid and existing registration
with SEBI under the applicable laws in India, and can participate in the Issue only under Schedule 2 of FEMA
Regulations. You will make all necessary filings with appropriate regulatory authorities, including RBI, as required
pursuant to applicable laws. You have not been prohibited by SEBI or any other regulatory authority, from buying,
selling or dealing in securities. Since, FVCls and non-resident multilateral or bilateral development financial institution
are not permitted to participate in the Issue, you confirm that you are neither a FVCI nor a non-resident multilateral or
bilateral development financial institution. Further, you acknowledge that Eligible FPIs may invest in such number of
Equity Shares such that (i) the individual investment of the FPI in our Company does not exceed 10% of the post-Issue
paid-up capital of our Company on a fully diluted basis, and (ii) the aggregate investment by FPIs in our Company
does not exceed 24% of the post-Issue paid-up capital of our Company on a fully diluted basis.

You will provide the information as required under the Companies Act, 2013 and the PAS Rules for record keeping
by our Company, including your name, complete address, phone number, e-mail address, permanent account number
and bank account details;

If you are Allotted Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue, you shall not sell the Equity Shares so acquired, for a period
of one year from the date of Allotment (hereinafter defined), except on the floor of the Stock Exchanges (additional
requirements apply if you are within the United States, for more information, see “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer
Restrictions” on page 152 and 159, respectively);

You are aware that this Preliminary Placement Document has not been, and will not be, registered as a prospectus with
the RoC under the Companies Act, 2013, the SEBI ICDR Regulations or under any other law in force in India and, no
Equity Shares will be offered in India or overseas to the public or any members of the public in India or any other class
of investors, other than Eligible QIBs. This Preliminary Placement Document has not been reviewed, verified or
affirmed by SEBI, the RBI, the RoC, the Stock Exchanges or any other regulatory or listing authority and is intended
only for use by Eligible QIBs. The Preliminary Placement Document has been filed (and the Placement Document
shall be filed) with the Stock Exchanges for record purposes only and be displayed on the websites of our Company
and the Stock Exchanges;

You are entitled to subscribe for and acquire the Equity Shares under the laws of all relevant jurisdictions applicable
to you and that you have fully observed such laws and you have all necessary capacity and have obtained all necessary
consents and authorities, as may be required and complied and shall comply with all necessary formalities to enable
you to participate in the Issue and to perform your obligations in relation thereto (including without limitation, in the
case of any person on whose behalf you are acting, all necessary consents and authorizations to agree to the terms set
out or referred to in this Preliminary Placement Document), and will honor such obligations;

Neither our Company, the Book Running Lead Managers nor any of their respective shareholders, directors, officers,
employees, counsels, representatives, agents or affiliates are making any recommendations to you or advising you
regarding the suitability of any transactions it may enter into in connection with the Issue and your participation in the
Issue is on the basis that you are not, and will not, up to the Allotment of the Equity Shares, be a client of the Book
Running Lead Managers. Neither the Book Running Lead Managers nor any of their respective shareholders, directors,
officers, employees, counsels, representatives, agents or affiliates has any duty or responsibility to you for providing
the protection afforded to their clients or customers or for providing advice in relation to the Issue and are not in any
way acting in any fiduciary capacity;



10.

11.
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13.
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16.

17.

All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Preliminary Placement Document, including,
without limitation, those regarding our financial position, business strategy, plans and objectives of management for
future operations (including development plans and objectives relating to our business), are forward-looking
statements. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important
factors that could cause actual results to be materially different from future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous
assumptions regarding our present and future business strategies and environment in which we will operate in the
future. You should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this
Preliminary Placement Document. None of our Company, the Book Running Lead Managers or any of their respective
shareholders, directors, officers, employees, counsel, representatives, agents or affiliates assumes any responsibility
to update any of the forward-looking statements contained in this Preliminary Placement Document;

You are aware that the Equity Shares are being offered only to Eligible QIBs on a private placement basis and are not
being offered to the general public, or any other category of investors other than the Eligible QIBs and the Allotment
shall be on a discretionary basis at the discretion of our Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead
Managers;

You have made, or been deemed to have made, as applicable, the representations, warranties, acknowledgments and
undertakings as set out under “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions” on pages 152 and 159, respectively;

You have been provided a serially numbered copy of the Preliminary Placement Document, and have read it in its
entirety, including in particular the “Risk Factors” on page 43;

In making your investment decision, you have (i) relied on your own examination of our Company, its Subsidiaries,
its Joint Ventures and its Associate and the terms of the Issue, including the merits and risks involved, (ii) made and
will continue to make your own assessment of our Company, its Subsidiaries, its Joint Ventures and its Associate, the
Equity Shares and the terms of the Issue based on such information as is publicly available, (iii) consulted your own
independent counsels and advisors or otherwise have satisfied yourself concerning, the effects of local laws (including
tax laws), (iv) relied solely on the information contained in this Preliminary Placement Document and no other
disclosure or representation by our Company or any other party, (v) received all information that you believe is
necessary or appropriate in order to make an investment decision in respect of our Company and the Equity Shares,
and (vi) relied upon your own investigation and resources in deciding to invest in the Issue;

Neither the Book Running Lead Managers nor any of their respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees,
counsels, representatives, agents or affiliates, has provided you with any tax advice or otherwise made any
representations regarding the tax consequences of purchase, ownership and disposal of the Equity Shares (including
the Issue and the use of proceeds from the Equity Shares). You will obtain your own independent tax advice from a
reputable service provider and will not rely on the Book Running Lead Managers or any of their respective
shareholders, directors, officers, employees, counsels, representatives, agents or affiliates, when evaluating the tax
consequences in relation to the purchase, ownership and disposal of the Equity Shares (including, in relation to the
Issue and the use of proceeds from the Equity Shares). You waive, and agree not to assert any claim against, either of
the Book Running Lead Managers or any of their respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees, counsels,
representatives, agents or affiliates, with respect to the tax aspects of the Equity Shares or as a result of any tax audits
by tax authorities, wherever situated;

You are a sophisticated investor and have such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters as to be
capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the investment in the Equity Shares and you and any managed accounts
for which you are subscribing for the Equity Shares (i) are each able to bear the economic risk of the investment in the
Equity Shares, (ii) will not look to our Company and/or the Book Running Lead Managers or any of their respective
shareholders, directors, officers, employees, counsels, representatives, agents or affiliates, for all or part of any such
loss or losses that may be suffered, (iii) are able to sustain a complete loss on the investment in the Equity Shares, (iv)
have no need for liquidity with respect to the investment in the Equity Shares, and (v) have no reason to anticipate any
change in your or their circumstances, financial or otherwise, which may cause or require any sale or distribution by
you or them of all or any part of the Equity Shares. You are seeking to subscribe to the Equity Shares in the Issue for
your own investment and not with a view to resell or distribute;

If you are acquiring the Equity Shares for one or more managed accounts, you represent and warrant that you are
authorized in writing, by each such managed account to acquire the Equity Shares for each managed account and to
make (and you hereby make) the representations, warranties, acknowledgements, undertakings and agreements herein
for and on behalf of each such account, reading the reference to ‘you’ to include such accounts;

You are not a ‘promoter’ of our Company (as defined under the SEBI ICDR Regulations or the Companies Act, 2013),
and are not a person related to any of the Promoters, either directly or indirectly and your Bid (hereinafter defined)
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29.

does not directly or indirectly represent any Promoter or Promoter Group (as defined under the SEBI ICDR
Regulations) of our Company or persons or entities related thereto;

You have no rights under a shareholders’ agreement or voting agreement entered into with the Promoters or members
of the Promoter Group, no veto rights or right to appoint any nominee director on the Board of Directors of our
Company, other than the rights, if any, acquired in the capacity of a lender not holding any Equity Shares (a QIB who
does not hold any Equity Shares and who has acquired the said rights in the capacity of a lender shall not be deemed
to be a person related to our Promoters);

You have no right to withdraw your Bid or revise your Bid downwards after the Issue Closing Date (as defined herein);

You are eligible to Bid for and hold Equity Shares so Allotted together with any Equity Shares held by you prior to
the Issue. You further confirm that your aggregate holding after the Allotment of the Equity Shares shall not exceed
the level permissible as per any applicable law;

The Bid made by you would not ultimately result in triggering an open offer under the Securities and Exchange Board
of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011, as amended (“SEBI Takeover
Regulations”);

To the best of your knowledge and belief, your aggregate holding, together with other Eligible QIBs in the Issue that
belong to the same group or are under common control as you, pursuant to the Allotment under the Issue shall not
exceed 50% of the Issue Size. For the purposes of this representation:

a. Eligible QIBs “belonging to the same group” shall mean entities where (a) any of them controls, directly or
indirectly, through its subsidiary or holding company, not less than 15% of the voting rights in the other; (b)
any of them, directly or indirectly, by itself, or in combination with other persons, exercise control over the
others; or (c) there is a common director, excluding nominee and independent directors, amongst an Eligible
QIBs, its subsidiary or holding company and any other QIB ; and

b. ‘Control” shall have the same meaning as is assigned to it under the SEBI Takeover Regulations;

You are aware that (i) applications for in-principle approval, in terms of Regulation 28 of the SEBI Listing Regulations,
for listing and admission of the Equity Shares and for trading on the Stock Exchanges, were made and approval has
been received from each of the Stock Exchanges, and (ii) final applications will be made for obtaining listing and
trading approvals from the Stock Exchanges only after Allotment, and that there can be no assurance that such
approvals will be obtained on time or at all. Neither, our Company nor the Book Running Lead Managers nor any of
their respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees, counsels, representatives, agents or affiliates shall be
responsible for any delay or non-receipt of such final listing and trading approvals or any loss arising therefrom;

You shall not undertake any trade in the Equity Shares credited to your beneficiary account with the Depository
Participant until such time that the final listing and trading approvals for the Equity Shares are issued by the Stock
Exchanges;

You are aware that in terms of the requirements of the Companies Act, upon Allocation, the Company will be required
to disclose names and percentage of post-Issue shareholding of the proposed Allottees in the Placement Document.
However, disclosure of such details in relation to the proposed Allottees in the Placement Document will not guarantee
Allotment to them, as Allotment in the Issue shall continue to be at the sole discretion of the Company, in consultation
with the Book Running Lead Managers;

You agree in terms of Section 42 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 14 of the PAS Rules, that our Company shall
make necessary filings with the RoC as may be required under the Companies Act, 2013;

You acknowledge that this Preliminary Placement Document does not, and the Placement Document shall not confer
upon or provide you with any right of renunciation of the Equity Shares offered through the Issue in favour of any
person;

You are aware that if you, together with any other Eligible QIBs belonging to the same group or under common
control, are Allotted more than 5% of the Equity Shares in this Issue, our Company shall be required to disclose the
name of such Allottees and the number of Equity Shares Allotted to the Stock Exchanges and the Stock Exchanges
will make the same available on their website and you consent to such disclosures being made by our Company;

You are aware and understand that the Book Running Lead Managers have entered into a placement agreement with
our Company, whereby the Book Running Lead Managers have, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions set
out therein, severally and not jointly, undertaken to use their reasonable efforts to seek to procure subscription for the
Equity Shares on the terms and conditions set out therein;
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The contents of this Preliminary Placement Document are exclusively the responsibility of our Company and that
neither the Book Running Lead Managers nor any person acting on its or their behalf or any of the counsels or advisors
to the Issue has or shall have any liability for any information, representation or statement contained in this Preliminary
Placement Document or any information previously published by or on behalf of our Company and will not be liable
for your decision to participate in the Issue based on any information, representation or statement contained in this
Preliminary Placement Document or otherwise. By accepting participation in the Issue, you agree to the same and
confirm that the only information you are entitled to rely on, and on which you have relied in committing yourself to
acquire the Equity Shares is contained in the Preliminary Placement Document, such information being all that you
deem necessary to make an investment decision in respect of the Equity Shares, and you have neither received nor
relied on any other information, representation, warranty or statement made by, or on behalf of, the Book Running
Lead Managers or our Company or any other person and neither the Book Running Lead Managers nor our Company
or any of their respective affiliates, including any view, statement, opinion or representation expressed in any research
published or distributed by them and the Book Running Lead Managers and their respective affiliates will not be liable
for your decision to accept an invitation to participate in the Issue based on any other information, representation,
warranty, statement or opinion;

Neither the Book Running Lead Managers nor any of their respective affiliates have any obligation to purchase or
acquire all or any part of the Equity Shares purchased by you in the Issue or to support any losses directly or indirectly
sustained or incurred by you for any reason whatsoever in connection with the Issue, including non-performance by
our Company of any of its obligations or any breach of any representations and warranties by our Company, whether
to you or otherwise;

You are a sophisticated investor who is seeking to purchase the Equity Shares for your own investment and not with
a view to distribute. You acknowledge that (i) an investment in the Equity Shares involves a high degree of risk and
that the Equity Shares are, therefore, a speculative investment, (ii) you have sufficient knowledge, sophistication and
experience in financial and business matters so as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risk of the purchase of
the Equity Shares, and (iii) you are experienced in investing in private placement transactions of securities of
companies in a similar stage of development and in similar jurisdictions and have such knowledge and experience in
financial, business and investments matters that you are capable of evaluating the merits and risks of your investment
in the Equity Shares;

You are subscribing to the Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to the Issue in accordance with applicable laws and by
participating in this Issue, you are not in violation of any applicable law, including but not limited to the SEBI Insider
Trading Regulations, the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices
relating to Securities Market) Regulations, 2003, as amended, and the Companies Act;

Either (i) you have not participated in or attended any investor meetings or presentations by our Company or its agents
with regard to our Company or this Issue (“Company Presentation”); or (ii) if you have participated in or attended
any Company Presentations: (a) you understand and acknowledge that the Book Running Lead Managers may not
have the knowledge of the statements that our Company or its agents may have made at such Company Presentations
and are therefore unable to determine whether the information provided to you at such Company Presentation included
any material misstatements or omissions, and, accordingly you acknowledge that Book Running Lead Managers have
advised you not to rely in any way on any such information that was provided to you at such Company Presentation,
and (b) you confirm that, to the best of your knowledge, you have not been provided any material or price sensitive
information that was not publicly available;

You understand that the Equity Shares have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not
be offered or sold within the United States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to,
the registration requirements of the Securities Act and any applicable state securities laws. For more information, see
“Selling Restrictions” on page 152;

If you are within the United States, you are a U.S. QIB, who is or are acquiring the Equity Shares for your own account
or for the account of an institutional investor who also meets the requirements of a U.S. QIB, for investment purposes
only, and not with a view to, or for offer or sale in connection with, the distribution (within the meaning of any United
States securities laws) thereof in whole or in part;

If you are outside the United States, you are purchasing the Equity Shares in an “offshore transaction” within the
meaning of Regulation S;

You are not acquiring or subscribing for the Equity Shares as a result of any general solicitation or general advertising
(as those terms are defined in Regulation D under the Securities Act) or “directed selling efforts” (as defined in
Regulation S) and you understand and agree that offers and sales are being made in reliance on an exemption to the
registration requirements of the Securities Act provided by Section 4(a)(2) thereof, and the Equity Shares may not be
eligible for resale under Rule 144A. You understand and agree that the Equity Shares are transferable only in
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accordance with the restrictions described in “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions” on pages 152 and
159, respectively;

Each of the representations, warranties, acknowledgements and agreements set out above shall continue to be true and
accurate at all times up to and including the Allotment, listing and trading of the Equity Shares in the Issue. You agree
to indemnify and hold our Company and the Book Running Lead Managers and their respective affiliates and their
respective directors, officers, employees and controlling persons harmless from any and all costs, claims, liabilities
and expenses (including legal fees and expenses) arising out of or in connection with any breach of the foregoing
representations, warranties, acknowledgements, agreements and undertakings made by you in this Preliminary
Placement Document. You agree that the indemnity set out in this paragraph shall survive the resale of the Equity
Shares by, or on behalf of, the managed accounts;

Our Company, the Book Running Lead Managers, their respective affiliates, directors, officers, employees and
controlling persons and others will rely on the truth and accuracy of the foregoing representations, warranties,
acknowledgements and undertakings, which are given to the Book Running Lead Managers on their own behalf and
on behalf of our Company, and are irrevocable; and

You agree that any dispute arising in connection with the Issue will be governed by and construed in accordance with
the laws of Republic of India, and the courts in Mumbai, India shall have sole and exclusive jurisdiction to settle any
disputes which may arise out of or in connection with this Preliminary Placement Document and the Placement
Document.



OFFSHORE DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Subject to compliance with all applicable Indian laws, rules, regulations, guidelines and approvals in terms of Regulation 22 of
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Portfolio Investors) Regulations, 2014, as amended (“SEBI FPI
Regulations™), FPIs (other than a Category Il foreign portfolio investors and unregulated broad based funds which are
classified as Category Il FPI by virtue of their investment manager being appropriately regulated) may issue, subscribe or
otherwise deal in offshore derivative instruments (as defined under the SEBI FPI Regulations as any instrument, by whatever
name called, which is issued overseas by an Eligible FPI against securities held by it that are listed or proposed to be listed on
any recognized stock exchange in India or unlisted debt securities or securitized debt instruments, as its underlying) (all such
offshore derivative instruments are referred to herein as “P-Notes”), for which they may receive compensation from the
purchasers of such instruments. Further, in accordance with SEBI circular (bearing number CIR/IMD/FIIC/20/2014) dated
November 24, 2014, Eligible FPIs are permitted to issue P-Notes to only those subscribers which meet the eligibility criteria as
laid down in Regulation 4 of the SEBI FPI Regulations and which do not have any opaque structure(s), as defined under the
SEBI FPI Regulations. Two or more subscribers of P-Notes having a common beneficial owner shall be considered together as
a single subscriber of the P-Notes. In the event a prospective investor has investments as a FPI and as a subscriber of P-Notes,
these investment restrictions shall apply on the aggregate of the FPI and P-Notes investments held in the underlying company.
For further details relating to investment limits of FPIs, see “Issue Procedure” on page 139. P-Notes may be issued only in
favour of those entities which meet the eligibility criteria as laid down in Regulation 4 of the SEBI FPI Regulations. Pursuant
to its circular dated June 10, 2016, SEBI has introduced additional requirements applicable to P-Notes, including (i) KYC norms
for issuers of P-Notes which require identification and verification of beneficial owners of entities subscribing to the P-Note
holding more than a prescribed threshold; (ii) the requirement for issuers to file suspicious transaction reports with the Indian
Financial Intelligence Unit; and (iii) the requirement for the issuer to report details of intermediate transfers in the monthly
reports on P-Notes submitted to SEBI. An Eligible FPI shall also ensure that no further issue or transfer of any instrument
referred to above is made by or on behalf of it to any person other than such entities regulated by appropriate foreign regulatory
authorities. P-Notes have not been, and are not being offered, or sold pursuant to this Preliminary Placement Document. This
Preliminary Placement Document does not contain any information concerning P-Notes or the issuer(s) of any P-notes,
including, without limitation, any information regarding any risk factors relating thereto.

The FPI is required to collect regulatory fee of US$ 1,000 or any other amount, as may be specified by SEBI from time to time,
from every subscriber of P-Notes issued by it and deposit the same with SEBI by way of electronic transfer in the designated
bank account of SEBI. FPI is required to deposit this regulatory fee once every three years, provided that for the block of three
years beginning April 1, 2017, the FPI shall collect and deposit the regulatory fee within two months from the date of
notification of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Portfolio Investors) (Fourth Amendment) Regulations,
2017 (i.e. July 20, 2017).

Any P-Notes that may be issued are not securities of our Company and do not constitute any obligation of, claims on or
interests in our Company. Our Company has not participated in any offer of any P-Notes, or in the establishment of the terms
of any P-Notes, or in the preparation of any disclosure related to any P-Notes. Any P-Notes that may be offered are issued by,
and are the sole obligations of, third parties that are unrelated to our Company. Our Company and the Book Running Lead
Managers do not make any recommendation as to any investment in P-Notes and do not accept any responsibility whatsoever
in connection with any P-Notes. Any P-Notes that may be issued are not securities of the Book Running Lead Managers and
do not constitute any obligations of or claims on the Book Running Lead Managers. Respective affiliates of the Book Running
Lead Managers which are Eligible FPIs may purchase the Equity Shares in the Issue, and may issue P-Notes in respect thereof,
in each case to the extent permitted by applicable law.

Prospective investors interested in purchasing any P-Notes have the responsibility to obtain adequate disclosures as to
the issuer(s) of such P-Notes and the terms and conditions of any such P-Notes from the issuer(s) of such P-Notes. Neither
SEBI nor any other regulatory authority has reviewed or approved any P-Notes or any disclosure related thereto.
Prospective investors are urged to consult their own financial, legal, accounting and tax advisors regarding any
contemplated investment in P-Notes, including whether P-Notes are issued in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.

Also see “Selling Restrictions” and “Transfer Restrictions” on page 152 and 159, respectively.



DISCLAIMER CLAUSE OF THE STOCK EXCHANGES

As required, a copy of this Preliminary Placement Document has been submitted to each of the Stock Exchanges. The Stock
Exchanges do not in any manner:

(1) warrant, certify or endorse the correctness or completeness of the contents of this Preliminary Placement Document;

(2) warrant that the Equity Shares issued pursuant to the Issue will be listed or will continue to be listed on the Stock
Exchanges; or

3) take any responsibility for the financial or other soundness of our Company, its promoters, its management or any
scheme or project of our Company,

and it should not for any reason be deemed or construed to mean that this Preliminary Placement Document has been cleared
or approved by the Stock Exchanges. Every person who desires to apply for or otherwise acquire any Equity Shares may do so
pursuant to an independent inquiry, investigation and analysis and shall not have any claim against the Stock Exchanges
whatsoever, by reason of any loss which may be suffered by such person consequent to or in connection with, such
subscription/acquisition, whether by reason of anything stated or omitted to be stated herein, or for any other reason whatsoever.



PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

In this Preliminary Placement Document, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise indicates or implies, references
to ‘you’, ‘your’, ‘offeree’, ‘purchaser’, ‘subscriber’, ‘recipient’, ‘investors’, ‘prospective investors’ and ‘potential investor’ are
to the Eligible QIBs who are the prospective investors in the Equity Shares issued pursuant to the Issue, references to the
‘Company’ or the ‘Issuer’ are to Godrej Properties Limited and references to ‘we’, “us’ or ‘our’ are to Godrej Properties Limited
together with its Subsidiaries, its Joint Ventures and its Associate on a consolidated basis.

In this Preliminary Placement Document, references to ‘INR’, ?°, ‘Rs.’, ‘Indian Rupees’ and ‘Rupees’ are to the legal currency
of India and to ‘USD’, ‘U.S. Dollars’ and ‘US$’ are to the legal currency of the United States. All references herein to ‘India’
are to the Republic of India and its territories and possessions and the ‘Government’ or the ‘Central Government’ or the ‘State
Government’ are to the Government of India, central or state, as applicable. All references herein to the ‘US’ or the ‘U.S.” or
the ‘United States’ are to the United States of America and its territories and possessions.

References to the singular also refer to the plural and one gender also refers to any other gender, wherever applicable. All the
numbers in this Preliminary Placement Document, other than the financials and booking value, have been presented in millions
or whole numbers, unless stated otherwise. One million represents 1,000,000 and one billion represents 1,000,000,000.

All references in this Preliminary Placement Document to “acre” means “43,560 sq. ft.” or “4,047” sq. m and “hectare” means
“107,639 sq. ft.” or “10,000 sg. m”.

The financial year of our Company commences on April 1 of each calendar year and ends on March 31 of the following calendar
year, and, unless otherwise specified or if the context requires otherwise, all references to a particular ‘financial year’, ‘Fiscal
Year’ or ‘FY” are to the twelve month period ended on March 31 of that year and references to a particular ‘year’ are to the
calendar year ending on December 31 of that year.

Our Company reports its financial statements in Indian Rupees.

Our audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2019 prepared in accordance with the Ind AS (including Ind AS
115 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’) and Companies Act, 2013, and Fiscal 2018 prepared in accordance with the Ind
AS and Companies Act, 2013 together with their respective reports issued by B S R & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants; and
our audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2017 prepared in accordance with the Ind AS and Companies Act,
2013, together with its report issued by Kalyaniwalla & Mistry LLP, Chartered Accountants, have been included in this
Preliminary Placement Document.

Ind AS differs from accounting principles with which prospective investors may be familiar in other countries, including IFRS
and US GAAP and the reconciliation of the financial information to other accounting principles has not been provided. No
attempt has been made to explain those differences or quantify their impact on the financial data included in this Preliminary
Placement Document and investors should consult their own advisors regarding such differences and their impact on our
Company’s financial data. The degree to which the financial information included in this Preliminary Placement Document
will provide meaningful information is entirely dependent on the reader’s level of familiarity with Indian accounting policies
and practices, Ind AS, the Companies Act and the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Any reliance by persons not familiar with Ind AS,
the Companies Act, the SEBI ICDR Regulations and practices on the financial disclosures presented in this Preliminary
Placement Document should accordingly be limited. Also see, “Risk Factors - It is difficult to compare our performance
between periods, as our revenues and expenses fluctuate significantly from period to period” on page 52 and “Risk Factors
- Significant differences exist between Ind AS used to prepare our Consolidated Financial Statements and other accounting
principles, such as Indian GAAP and IFRS, with which investors may be more familiar” on page 64.

Our financials are prepared in crores and have been presented in this Preliminary Placement Document in crores for presentation
purposes. One crore represents 10,000,000. Certain figures contained in this Preliminary Placement Document, including
financial information, have been subject to rounding adjustments. Any discrepancies in any table between the totals and the
sum of the amounts listed are due to rounding off. All figures in decimals have been rounded off to the second decimal. In
certain instances, (i) the sum or percentage change of such numbers may not conform exactly to the total figure given, and (ii)
the sum of the figures in a column or row in certain tables may not conform exactly to the total figure given for that column or
row. Unless otherwise specified, all financial numbers in parenthesis represent negative figures.

Certain information contained in this Preliminary Placement Document regarding Developable Area and Saleable Area is based
on assumptions, management plans and estimates. Also see, “Risk Factors - Certain information contained in this Preliminary
Placement Document is based on assumptions and current management plans and estimates which may change, and we
cannot assure you of the completeness or the accuracy of other statistical and financial data contained in this Preliminary
Placement Document” on page 49.
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INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA

Information regarding market position, growth rates and other industry data pertaining to our businesses contained in this
Preliminary Placement Document consists of estimates based on data and reports compiled by government bodies, professional
organizations, industry publications and analysts, data from other external sources and knowledge of the markets in which we
compete. The statistical information included in this Preliminary Placement Document relating to the various sectors in which
we operate has been reproduced from various trade, industry and regulatory/ government publications and websites, more
particularly described in “Industry Overview” on page 98.

This data is subject to change and cannot be verified with complete certainty due to limits on the availability and reliability of
the raw data and other limitations and uncertainties inherent in any statistical survey.

Neither our Company, nor the BRLMs have independently verified this data and make any representation regarding the
accuracy or completeness of such data. Similarly, while we believe that our internal estimates are reasonable, such estimates
have not been verified by any independent sources, and neither our Company nor any of the BRLMSs can assure potential
investors as to their accuracy. See also “Risk Factors — Certain information contained in this Preliminary Placement
Document is based on assumptions and current management plans and estimates which may change, and we cannot assure
you of the completeness or the accuracy of other statistical and financial data contained in this Preliminary Placement
Document” on page 49.

The extent to which the market and industry data used in this Preliminary Placement Document is meaningful depends on the
reader’s familiarity with and understanding of the methodologies used in compiling such data. Accordingly, investment
decisions should not be based solely on such information.

Disclaimer clause of Knight Frank

This Preliminary Placement Document contains data and statistics from certain reports and material prepared by Knight Frank
from the reports titled (i) REIT-able Space in India, March 2017, (ii) Knight Frank, India Real Estate, Residential and Office,
July to December 2018; and (iii) Residential Investment Advisory Report, Knight Frank Research Report, 2016, which are
subject to the following disclaimer:

“The reports are published for general information only and not to be relied upon in anyway. Although high standards have
been used in the preparation of the information analysis, views and projections presented in the report, no responsibility or
liability whatsoever can be accepted by Knight Frank for any loss or damage resultant from any use of, reliance on or reference
to the contents of this document. As a general report this material does not necessarily represent the view of Knight Frank in
relation to particular properties or projects.”

Disclaimer clause of P.E. Analytics

This Preliminary Placement Document contains data and statistics prepared by P.E. Analytics, which is subject to the following
disclaimer:

“The Data has been prepared/collected by P.E. Analytics based upon information available to the public and sources, believed
to be reliable. Though utmost care has been taken to ensure its accuracy, no representation or warranty, express or implied, is
made that it is accurate or complete. P.E. Analytics has reviewed the Data and, in so far as it includes current or historical
information, it is believed to be reliable, although its accuracy and completeness cannot be guaranteed.

P.E. Analytics accepts no liability and will not be liable for any losses or damages arising directly or indirectly (including
special, incidental, consequential, punitive or exemplary damages) from your use of the research, howsoever arising, and
including any losses, damages or expenses arising from, but not limited to, any defects, errors, imperfections, faults, mistakes
or inaccuracies in the research data, its contents.”
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AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Our Company has agreed that, for so long as any Equity Shares are “restricted securities” within the meaning of Rule 144(a)(3)
under the U.S. Securities Act, our Company will, during any period in which it is neither subject to Sections 13 or 15(d) of the
U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, nor exempt from reporting pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) thereunder, promptly
furnish or cause to be furnished to the BRLMSs and, upon request of any holder or beneficial owner of such restricted securities
or any prospective purchaser of such restricted securities designated by such holder or beneficial owner, to such holder,
beneficial owner or prospective purchaser, the information required to be delivered to holders, beneficial owners and
prospective purchasers of the Equity Shares being issued by Rule 144A(d)(4) under the U.S. Securities Act, subject to
compliance with the applicable provisions of Indian law.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Preliminary Placement Document that are not statements of historical fact constitute
‘forward-looking statements’. The prospective investors can generally identify forward-looking statements by terminology such
as ‘aim’, ‘anticipate’, ‘believe’, ‘continue’, ‘can’, ‘could’, ‘estimate’, ‘expect’, ‘goal’, ‘intend’, ‘may’, ‘objective’, ‘plan’,
‘potential’, ‘project’, ‘pursue’, ‘shall’, ‘seek to’, ‘should’, ‘will’, ‘will continue’, ‘will pursue’, ‘would’, or other words or
phrases of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe the strategies, objectives, plans or goals of our Company are also

forward-looking statements. However, these are not the exclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements appear in a number of places throughout this Preliminary Placement Document and include
statements regarding the intentions, beliefs or current expectations of our Company concerning, amongst other things, the
expected results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies and dividend policy of our Company
and the industry in which we operate. In addition even if the result of operations, financial conditions, liquidity and dividend
policy of our Company, and the development of the industry in which we operate, are consistent with the forward-looking
statements contained in this Preliminary Placement Document, those results or developments may not be indicative of results
or developments in subsequent periods.

All statements regarding our expected financial conditions, results of operations, business plans and prospects are forward-
looking statements. These forward-looking statements include statements as to our Company’s business strategy, planned
projects, revenue and profitability (including, without limitation, any financial or operating projections or forecasts), new
business and other matters discussed in this Preliminary Placement Document that are not historical facts. These forward-
looking statements contained in this Preliminary Placement Document (whether made by our Company or any third party), are
predictions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors that may cause the actual
results, performance or achievements of our Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements or other projections. All forward-looking statements
are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about our Company that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those contemplated by the relevant forward-looking statement. Important factors that could cause the actual results,
performances and achievements of our Company to be materially different from any of the forward-looking statements include,
among others:

. the continuing validity of ownership rights and title in respect of land or development rights acquired by us pursuant
to arrangements with third parties;

. our ability to successfully enjoy our development rights under our development agreements and the ability of our
development partners to meet their obligations;

o significant changes and modifications in the expected completion dates of our Ongoing Projects or Forthcoming
Projects as per our currently estimated management plans and timelines;

. the ability of land owners to develop parts of the project in case of projects where we are appointed as the development
manager;

. our ability to identify and acquire ownership of or development rights over, land parcels in suitable locations;

. our dependence on third party entities for the construction and development of our projects;

. increase in prices of, shortages of, or delays or disruptions in the supply of building materials or labour;

. our ability to add or replenish our Developable and Saleable Area by acquiring suitable sits or entering in to

development agreements for suitable sites; and

. payments to land owners pursuant to development agreements, or payment of penalties or liquidated damages in the
event of delay in completion within the agreed timeframe.

Additional factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements of our Company to differ materially include,
but are not limited to, those discussed in “Risk Factors”, “Industry Overview”, “Our Business” and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on pages 43, 98, 112 and 76, respectively.

By their nature, market risk disclosures are only estimates and could be materially different from what actually occurs in the
future. As a result, any future gains, losses or impact on net income and net income could materially differ from those that have
been estimated, expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements or other projections. The forward-looking statements
contained in this Preliminary Placement Document are based on the beliefs of the management, as well as the assumptions
made by, and information currently available to, the management of our Company. Although our Company believes that the
expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable at this time, it cannot assure the prospective investors
that such expectations will prove to be correct. Given these uncertainties, the prospective investors are cautioned not to place
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undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. In any event, these statements speak only as of the date of this Preliminary
Placement Document or the respective dates indicated in this Preliminary Placement Document, and our Company or the Book
Running Lead Managers undertake no obligation to update or revise any of them, whether as a result of new information, future
events, changes in assumptions or changes in factors affecting these forward looking statements or otherwise. If any of these
risks and uncertainties materialise, or if any of our Company’s underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, the actual results
of operations or financial condition of our Company could differ materially from that described herein as anticipated, believed,
estimated or expected. All subsequent forward-looking statements attributable to our Company are expressly qualified in their
entirety by reference to these cautionary statements.
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ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

Our Company is a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of India. All the Directors and Key Managerial
Personnel of our Company named herein are resident citizens of India and a substantial portion of the assets of our Company
and of such persons are located in India. As a result, it may be difficult or may not be possible for the prospective investors
outside India to affect service of process upon our Company or such persons in India, or to enforce against them judgments of
courts outside India.

India is not a signatory to any international treaty in relation to the recognition or enforcement of foreign judgments. However,
recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments is provided for under Section 13 and Section 44A of the Civil Procedure
Code. Section 13 of the Civil Procedure Code provides that a foreign judgment shall be conclusive regarding any matter directly
adjudicated upon between the same parties or parties litigating under the same title, except:

€)] where the judgment has not been pronounced by a court of competent jurisdiction;
(b) where the judgment has not been given on the merits of the case;
(© where it appears on the face of the proceedings that the judgment is founded on an incorrect view of international law

or a refusal to recognise the law of India in cases in which such law is applicable;

(d) where the proceedings in which the judgment was obtained were opposed to natural justice;
(e) where the judgment has been obtained by fraud; and
U] where the judgment sustains a claim founded on a breach of any law then in force in India.

Section 44A of the Civil Procedure Code provides that a foreign judgment rendered by a superior court (within the meaning of
that section) in any jurisdiction outside India which the Government has by notification declared to be a reciprocating territory,
may be enforced in India by proceedings in execution as if the judgment had been rendered by a district court in India. Under
Section 14 of the Civil Code, a court in India will, upon the production of any document purporting to be a certified copy of a
foreign judgment, presume that the foreign judgment was pronounced by a court of competent jurisdiction, unless the contrary
appears on record but such presumption may be displaced by proving want of jurisdiction. However, Section 44A of the Civil
Procedure Code is applicable only to monetary decrees not being in the nature of any amounts payable in respect of taxes or
other charges of a like nature or in respect of a fine or other penalties and does not include arbitration awards. The execution of
a foreign decree under Section 44A of the Civil Procedure Code is also subject to the exception under Section 13 of the Civil
Procedure Code as mentioned above.

Each of the United Kingdom, Singapore and Hong Kong, amongst others has been declared by the Government to be a
reciprocating territory for the purposes of Section 44A of the Civil Procedure Code, but the United States of America has not
been so declared. A foreign judgment of a court in a jurisdiction which is not a reciprocating territory may be enforced only by
a new suit upon the foreign judgment and not by proceedings in execution. The suit must be brought in India within three years
from the date of the foreign judgment in the same manner as any other suit filed to enforce a civil liability in India. Accordingly,
ajudgment of a court in the United States may be enforced only by a fresh suit upon the foreign judgment and not by proceedings
in execution.

It is unlikely that a court in India would award damages on the same basis as a foreign court if an action is brought in India.
Furthermore, it is unlikely that an Indian court would enforce foreign judgments if it viewed the amount of damages awarded
as excessive or inconsistent with public policy, and it is uncertain whether an Indian court would enforce foreign judgments
that would contravene or violate Indian law. Further, any judgment or award in a foreign currency would be converted into
Rupees on the date of such judgment or award and not on the date of payment. A party seeking to enforce a foreign judgment
in India is required to obtain approval from the RBI to repatriate outside India any amount recovered, and any such amount
may be subject to income tax in accordance with applicable laws.
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EXCHANGE RATES

Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the Rupee and foreign currencies will affect the foreign currency equivalent of the
Rupee price of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges. These fluctuations will also affect the conversion into foreign
currencies of any cash dividends paid in Rupees on the Equity Shares.

The following table sets forth information with respect to the exchange rates between the Rupee and the U.S. dollar (in T per
USD). No representation is made that any Rupee amounts could have been, or could be, converted into U.S. dollars at any
particular rate, the rates stated below, or at all.

On June 21, 2019, the exchange rate (the RBI reference rate) was < 69.63 to USD 1. (Source: www.fhil.org.in)

(% per USD)
| Period end | Average® | High® | Low®

Fiscal:
2019 69.17 69.89 74.39 64.93
2018 65.04 64.45 65.76 63.35
2017 64.84 67.09 68.72 64.84
Quarter ended:
March 31, 2019 69.17 70.49 71.75 68.58
December 31, 2018 69.79 72.11 74.39 65.66
September 30, 2018 72.55 70.03 72.81 68.30
June 30, 2018 68.58 67.04 68.94 64.93
Month ended:
May 31, 2019 69.81 69.77 70.42 69.27
April 30, 2019 69.84 69.43 70.14 68.49
March 31, 2019 69.17 69.48 70.97 68.58
February 28, 2019 71.19 71.22 71.75 70.55
January 31, 2019 71.03 70.73 71.38 69.48
December 31, 2018 69.79 70.73 72.04 69.79

(Source: www.rbi.org.in and www.fbil.org.in)

(1) Average of the official rate for each working day of the relevant period;

(2) Maximum of the official rate for each working day of the relevant period; and
(3) Minimum of the official rate for each working day of the relevant period.

Notes:

. If the RBI reference rate is not available on a particular date due to a public holiday, exchange rates of the previous working day have been disclosed.
e  The RBI reference rates are rounded off to two decimal places.
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DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

This Preliminary Placement Document uses the definitions and abbreviations set forth below, which you should consider when
reading the information contained herein.

The following list of certain capitalised terms used in this Preliminary Placement Document is intended for the convenience of
the reader/ prospective investor only and is not exhaustive.

Unless otherwise specified, the capitalised terms used in this Preliminary Placement Document shall have the meaning as
defined hereunder. Further any references to any agreement, document, statute, rules, guidelines, regulations or policies shall
include amendments made thereto, from time to time.

The words and expressions used in this Preliminary Placement Document but not defined herein, shall have, to the extent
applicable, the meaning ascribed to such terms under the Companies Act, the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the SCRA, the
Depositories Act or the rules and regulations made thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, terms used in “Taxation-
Statement of Tax Benefits”, “Industry Overview”, “Financial Information” and “Legal Proceedings” on pages 169, 98, 196
and 185, respectively, shall have the meaning given to such terms in such sections.

Company Related Terms

Term

Description

the Company or our Company or the
Issuer or GPL

Godrej Properties Limited

Acrticles or Articles of Association

Articles of association of our Company, as amended from time to time

Associate

Godrej One Premises Management Private Limited

Audit Committee

Audit committee of our Company as disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior Management”
on page 125

Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements or Financial Statements

Fiscal 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, Fiscal 2018 Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements and Fiscal 2017 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements

Auditors or Statutory Auditors

The current statutory auditors of our Company, namely, BS R & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants

Board of Directors or Board or our
Board

The board of directors of our Company or any duly constituted committee thereof

Corporate Social Responsibility
Committee

Corporate social responsibility committee of our Company as disclosed in “Board of Directors
and Senior Management” on page 125

Directors

The directors of our Company

ESGS

Godrej Properties Limited Employees Stock Grant Scheme, 2011, the equity stock grant scheme
of our Company, as approved by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee pursuant to a
resolution dated January 28, 2011, by the Board pursuant to a resolution dated January 31, 2011
and by the shareholders of our Company through postal ballot the results of which were announced
on March 18, 2011

Equity Shares

Equity shares having a face value of % 5 each of our Company

Fiscal 2019 Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2019 prepared in accordance with the
Ind AS (including Ind AS 115 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ and Companies Act,
2013) and Companies Act, 2013 together with the report dated April 30, 2019 issued by BSR &
Co., LLP, Chartered Accountants

Fiscal 2018 Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2018 prepared in accordance with the
Ind AS and Companies Act, 2013 together with the report dated May 4, 2018 issued by BSR &
Co., LLP, Chartered Accountants

Fiscal 2017 Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2017 prepared in accordance with the
Ind AS and Companies Act, 2013 together with the report dated May 4, 2017 issued by
Kalyaniwalla & Mistry LLP, Chartered Accountants

Fiscal 2018 Restated  Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our restated audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2018 (comparative for Fiscal
2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements), restated in accordance with Ind AS 115
following full retrospective approach, prepared in accordance with the Ind AS and Companies
Act, 2013 together with the report dated April 30, 2019 issued by B S R & Co., LLP, Chartered
Accountants

Independent Director

A non-executive, independent Director appointed as per the Companies Act, 2013 and the SEBI
Listing Regulations

Joint Ventures

Joint ventures of our Company, being:

(i) Amitis Developers LLP;

(i) AR Landcraft LLP;

(iii) Ashank Macbricks Private Limited;
(iv) Bavdhan Realty @ Pune 21 LLP;
(v) Caroa Properties LLP;

(vi) Dream World Landmarks LLP;
(vii) Godrej Construction Projects LLP;
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Term

Description
(viii) Godrej Developers & Properties LLP;
(ix) Godrej Green Homes Private Limited;
(x) Godrej Greenview Housing Private Limited;
(xi) Godrej Highview LLP;
(xii) Godrej Home Constructions Private Limited,;
(xiii) Godrej Housing Projects LLP;
(xiv) Godrej Irismark LLP;
(xv) Godrej Projects North Star LLP;
(xvi) Godrej Property Developers LLP;
(xvii) Godrej Real View Developers Private Limited;
(xviii)  Godrej Realty Private Limited;
(xix) Godrej Redevelopers (Mumbai) Private Limited;
(xx) Godrej Reserve LLP;
(xxi) Godrej Skyline Developers Private Limited,;
(xxii) Godrej SSDPL Green Acres LLP;
(xxiii)  Godrej Vestamark LLP;
(xxiv) M S Ramaiah Ventures LLP;
(xxv) Maan-Hinje Township Developers LLP;
(xxvi)  Mahalunge Township Developers LLP;
(xxvii)  Manjari Housing Projects LLP;
(xxviii) Manyata Industrial Parks LLP;
(xxix) ~ Mosiac Landmarks LLP;
(xxx) Oasis Landmarks LLP;
(xxxi)  Oxford Realty LLP;
(xxxii)  Pearlite Real Properties Private Limited;
(xxxiii) Prakhhyat Dwellings LLP;
(xxxiv) Roseberry Estate LLP;
(xxxv)  Suncity Infrastructures (Mumbai) LLP;
(xxxvi) Wonder City Buildcon Private Limited; and

(xxxvii) Wonder Projects Development Private Limited

Key Management Personnel

Key management personnel of our Company as disclosed in “Board of Directors and Senior
Management” on page 125

Memorandum or Memorandum of

Memorandum of association of our Company, as amended

Association

Nomination and Remuneration | Nomination and remuneration committee of the Board of our Company as disclosed in “Board of
Committee Directors and Senior Management” on page 125

Promoters The promoters of our Company namely, Godrej & Boyce Manufacturing Company Limited and

Godrej Industries Limited

Promoter Group

Unless the context requires otherwise, the promoter group of our Company as determined in
accordance with Regulation 2(1)(pp) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Registered Office and Corporate Office

Registered and corporate office of our Company situated at Godrej One, 5th Floor, Pirojshanagar,
Eastern Express Highway, Vikhroli (East), Mumbai 400 079, Maharashtra, India

Risk Management Committee

Risk management committee of the Board of our Company as disclosed in “Board of Directors
and Senior Management” on page 125

Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee

Stakeholders’ relationship committee of the Board of our Company as disclosed in “Board of
Directors and Senior Management” on page 125

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries of our Company, being:

(i) Ashank Realty Management LLP;

(i) Citystar InfraProjects Limited;

(iii) Embellish Houses LLP;

(iv) Godrej Athenmark LLP;

(v) Godrej City Facilities Management LLP;

(vi) Godrej Florentine LLP;

(vii) Godrej Garden City Properties Private Limited,;
(viii) Godrej Genesis Facilities Management Private Limited;
(ix) Godrej Green Properties LLP;

x) Godrej Highrises Properties Private Limited;
(xi) Godrej Highrises Realty LLP;

(xii) Godrej Hillside Properties Private Limited;

(xiii) Godrej Home Developers Private Limited;

(xiv) Godrej Landmark Redevelopers Private Limited;
(xv) Godrej Odyssey LLP;

(xvi) Godrej Olympia LLP;

(xvii) Godrej Prakriti Facilities Private Limited,;

(xviii)  Godrej Project Developers & Properties LLP;
(xix) Godrej Projects North LLP;

(xx) Godrej Projects (Soma) LLP;
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Term

We or us or our

Description
(xxi) Godrej Projects Development Limited;
(xxii) Godrej Properties Worldwide Inc.;
(xxiii)  Godrej Residency Private Limited,;
(xxiv)  Godrej Skyview LLP;
(xxv) Prakritiplaza Facilities Management Private Limited; and
(xxvi)  Wonder Space Properties Private Limited
Our Company along with our Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associate

Issue Related Terms

Term

Description

Allocated or Allocation

Allocation of Equity Shares, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, following the
determination of the Issue Price to Eligible QIBs on the basis of Application Forms submitted by
them, in compliance with Chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Allotment or Allotted

Allotment and issue of Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue

Allottees

Eligible QIBs to whom Equity Shares are issued pursuant to the Issue

Application Form

Form (including any revisions thereof) which will be submitted by the Eligible QIBs for registering
a Bid in the Issue

Bid(s)

Indication of an Eligible QIB’s interest, including all revisions and modifications of interest, as
provided in the Application Form, to subscribe for the Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue. The
term “Bidding” shall be construed accordingly

Bid Amount

The price per Equity Share indicated in the Bid multiplied by the number of Equity Shares Bid for
by Eligible QIBs and payable by the Eligible QIBs in the Issue on submission of the Application
Form

Bidder(s)

Any prospective investor, being an Eligible QIB, who makes a Bid pursuant to the terms of this
Preliminary Placement Document and the Application Form

CAN or Confirmation of Allocation
Note

Note, advice or intimation to successful Bidders confirming the Allocation of Equity Shares to
such successful Bidders after discovery of the Issue Price

Closing Date

The date on which Allotment of Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue shall be made, i.e., on or about
[],2019

Designated Date

The date of credit of Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue to the Allottees’ demat accounts, as
applicable to the relevant Allottees

Eligible FPIs

FPIs that are eligible to participate in this Issue and do not include Category 111 FPI

Eligible QIBs

QIBs that are eligible to participate in the Issue and which are not excluded pursuant to Regulation
179(2)(b) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. In relation to the Issue, this term shall consist of (i) QIBs
which are resident in India; and (ii) Eligible FPIs, participating through Schedule 2 of the FEMA
Regulations. Subject to (ii) above, in the United States persons reasonably believed to be “qualified
institutional buyers” as defined in Rule 144 A under the U.S. Securities Act may participate in the
Issue. Further, except as provide in (ii) above, other non-resident QIBs (including F\VCls and non-
resident multilateral and bilateral development financial institutions) are not permitted to
participate in the Issue

Escrow Account

Special non-interest bearing, no-lien, current bank account without any cheques or overdraft
facilities, opened with the Escrow Agent, subject to the terms of the Escrow Agreement, into which
the Bid Amount shall be deposited by Eligible QIBs and refunds, if any, shall be remitted to
unsuccessful Bidders

Escrow Agent

HDFC Bank Limited

Escrow Agreement

Agreement dated June 25, 2019, entered into by and amongst our Company, the Escrow Agent
and the Book Running Lead Managers for collection of the Bid amounts and remitting refunds, if
any, of the amounts collected, to the Bidders

Floor Price

Floor price of ¥ 928 for each Equity Share, calculated in accordance with Chapter VI of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations. Our Company may offer a discount of not more than 5% on the Floor Price in
accordance with the approval of the shareholders of our Company accorded through their
resolution passed by way of postal ballot on June 8, 2019 and in terms of Regulation 176(1) of the
SEBI ICDR Regulations

Book Running Lead Managers or
BRLMs

Kotak Mahindra Capital Company Limited, Axis Capital Limited, CLSA India Private Limited
and DSP Merrill Lynch Limited

Issue

Offer, issuance and Allotment of the Equity Shares to Eligible QIBs, pursuant to Chapter VI of
the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the
rules made thereunder

Issue Closing Date

[e], 2019, the date after which our Company (or Book Running Lead Managers on behalf of our
Company) shall cease acceptance of Application Forms and the Bid Amount

Issue Opening Date

June 25, 2019, the date on which our Company (or the Book Running Lead Managers on behalf
of our Company) shall commence acceptance of the Application Forms and the Bid Amount

Issue Period

Period between the Issue Opening Date and the Issue Closing Date, inclusive of both days during
which Eligible QIBs can submit their Bids along with the Bid Amount
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Term Description
Issue Price A price per Equity Share of X [e]
Issue Size Aggregate size of the Issue, up to X [e] million
Mutual Fund A mutual fund registered with the SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual

Funds) Regulations, 1996

Placement Agreement

Placement agreement dated June 25, 2019 by and among our Company and the Book Running
Lead Managers

Placement Document

Placement document to be issued in accordance with Chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations
and the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder

Preliminary Placement Document

This preliminary placement document cum application form, dated June 25, 2019 issued in
accordance with Chapter VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the provisions of the Companies
Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder

QIB or Qualified Institutional Buyer

Qualified institutional buyer, as defined under Regulation 2(1)(ss) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

QIP

Qualified institutions placement under Chapter V1 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and applicable
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the applicable rules of the PAS Rules

Refund Amount

The aggregate amount to be returned to the Bidders who have not been Allocated Equity Shares
for all or part of the Bid Amount submitted by such Bidder pursuant to the Issue

Refund Intimation Letter

The letter from the Company to relevant Bidders intimating them of the Refund Amount, if any,
to be refunded to their respective bank accounts on the date of issuance of CAN

Relevant Date

June 25, 2019, which is the date of the meeting in which the QIP committee of the Board decided
to open the Issue

Successful Bidders

The Bidders who have Bid at or above the Issue Price, duly paid the Bid Amount and who will be
Allocated Issue shares

Working Day

Any day other than second and fourth Saturday of the relevant month or a Sunday or a public
holiday or a day on which scheduled commercial banks are authorised or obligated by law to
remain closed in Mumbai, India

Business and Industry Related Terms

Term

Description

Acre

43,560 sq. ft.

CLSS

Credit Linked Subsidy Scheme

Completed Projects

Projects/ phases for which approval on completion is received from relevant authorities

Developable Area

The total area which the Company, its Subsidiaries, its Joint Ventures, its Associate and/or LLPs
develop in each project, and includes carpet area, common area, service and storage area, as well as
other open area, including car parking

EWS

Economically weaker section

Forthcoming Projects

Projects for which land or development rights have been acquired or a memorandum of
understanding or an agreement to acquire or a joint development agreement has been executed, in
each case, by the Company, its Subsidiaries, its Associates, its Joint Ventures and/ or LLPs, either
directly or indirectly

FSI Floor space index, which means the quotient of the ratio of the combined gross floor area of all
floors, excepting areas specifically exempted, to the total area of the plot

IT Information Technology

ITeS Information Technology Enabled Services

MIG Middle income group

msf Million square feet

Ongoing Projects

Projects in respect of which (i) all title or development rights, or other interest in the land is held
either directly by the Company, its Subsidiaries, its Joint Ventures, LLPs, Associates and/or other
entities in which the Company and/or its Subsidiaries are shareholders or have a stake or have some
economic interest ; and (ii) development work is ongoing/started; (iii) wherever required, all land
for the project has been converted for the intended use; and (iv) the requisite approvals required as
per applicable law for launch of project/phase have been obtained or applied for, as the case may
be. This includes partial or all phases of the projects.

PMAY Pradhan Mantri Awas Yojana
psf Per square feet
RERA Real Estate (Regulation and Development) Act, 2016, as amended

Saleable Area

Part of the Developable Area for project/ phase for which the prospective buyer or tenant or lessee
or licensee, as the case may be, is obligated to pay the developer(s) or for which the developer(s)
expect that the prospective buyer or tenant or lessee or licensee, as the case may be, will pay.

Conventional and General Terms/ Abbreviations

Term

Description

INR/ Rupees/ %/ Indian Rupees/ Rs.

Indian Rupees
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Term Description
AGM Annual general meeting
AlF(s) Alternative investment funds, as defined and registered with SEBI under the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investment Funds) Regulations, 2012
AS Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA is Non-GAAP measure which represents EBITDA plus interest included in cost
of sale

BSE BSE Limited

CBI Central Bureau of Investigation

CDSL Central Depository Services (India) Limited
CEO Chief executive officer

CFO Chief financial officer

CIN Corporate identity number

Civil Procedure Code

The Code of Civil Procedure, 1908, as amended

Companies Act

The Companies Act, 1956 or the Companies Act, 2013, as applicable

Companies Act, 1956

The erstwhile Companies Act, 1956, as amended and the rules made thereunder

Companies Act, 2013

The Companies Act, 2013, as amended and the rules made thereunder

CrPC The Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973

CSR Corporate social responsibility

Depositories Act The Depositories Act, 1996, as amended

Depository A depository registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Depositories

and Participant) Regulations, 1996, as amended

Depository Participant

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act

EBITDA EBITDA is Non-GAAP measure which represents earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation expenses

EGM Extraordinary general meeting

EPS Earnings per share

FDI Foreign direct investment

FEMA The Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, as amended and the regulations issued thereunder

FEMA Regulations

The Foreign Exchange Management (Transfer or Issue of Security by a Person Resident Outside
India) Regulations, 2017, as amended and any notifications, circulars or clarifications issued
thereunder

Finance Cost

Finance cost charged to the statement of profit and loss

Financial Year or Fiscal Year(s) or
Fiscal

Period of 12 months ended March 31 of that particular year, unless otherwise stated

Form PAS-4 Form PAS-4 as prescribed under the PAS Rules

Fll Foreign institutional investors

FIR First information report

FPI Foreign portfolio investors as defined under the SEBI FPI Regulations and includes a person who
has been registered under the SEBI FPI Regulations.

FVCI Foreign venture capital investors as defined under the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Foreign Venture Capital Investors) Regulations, 2000 and registered with SEBI thereunder

GDP Gross domestic product

Government Government of India, unless otherwise specified

GST Goods and services tax

HUF Hindu undivided family

ICAI The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

IPC Indian Penal Code, 1860

Ind AS Indian accounting standards as notified by the MCA vide Companies (Indian Accounting
Standards) Rule 2015, as amended

Ind AS 115 Indian Accounting Standard 115 “Revenue from contracts with customers” (Ind AS 115) prescribed

under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013

Income Tax Act

The Income Tax Act, 1961, as amended

Interest Coverage Ratio

EBITDA expense/ Finance Costs

JLL Jones Lang LaSalle Property Consultants India Pvt. Ltd.
Knight Frank Knight Frank (India) Private Limited

MCA The Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India
NRI Non-resident Indian

NSDL National Securities Depository Limited

NSE National Stock Exchange of India Limited

P.E. Analytics P.E. Analytics Private Limited

PAN Permanent account number

PAS Rules The Companies (Prospectus and Allotment of Securities) Rules, 2014, as amended
PAT Profit After Tax

RBI The Reserve Bank of India

Regulation S Regulation S under the Securities Act
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Term

Description

Relevant Member State

Each member state of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus
Directive

RoC

The Registrar of Companies, Maharashtra at Mumbai

Rule 144A

Rule 144A under the Securities Act

SCR (SECC) Rules

The Securities Contracts (Regulation) (Stock Exchanges and Clearing Corporations) Regulations,
2012

SCRA The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956, as amended
SCRR The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as amended
SEBI Securities and Exchange Board of India

SEBI Act The Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992, as amended

SEBI FPI Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Portfolio Investors) Regulations, 2014, as
amended

SEBI Listing Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015, as amended

SEBI Insider Trading Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015, as
amended

SEBI ICDR Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2018, as amended

SEC United States Securities and Exchange Commission
Securities Act The United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended
SFA The Securities and Futures Act Chapter 289 of Singapore
SI-NBFC Systemically important non-banking financial companies
SLP Special leave petition

Stock Exchanges BSE and NSE

STT Securities transaction tax

Takeover Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeover)
Regulations, 2011, as amended

U.K.

United Kingdom

uol

Union of India

U.S.$/ U.S. dollar/ USD

United States Dollar, the legal currency of the United States of America

USA/ U.S./ United States

The United States of America

U.S. QIB

Qualified institutional buyer (as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act)

VCF

Venture capital fund
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DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER FORM PAS-4 PRESCRIBED UNDER THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013

The disclosure requirements as provided in Form PAS-4 and the relevant pages in this Preliminary Placement Document where
these disclosures, to the extent applicable, are provided below:

S. No. Disclosure Requirements Relevant Page of this
Preliminary Placement
Document
1. GENERAL INFORMATION
i Name, address, website, if any, and other contact details of the company indicating both Cover page, 195
registered office and corporate office.
ii. Date of incorporation of the company. Cover page, 195
iii. Business carried on by the company and its subsidiaries with the details of branches or units, 112
if any.
iv. Brief particulars of the management of the company. 125
V. Names, addresses, DIN and occupations of the directors. 125, 126
Vi. Management’s perception of risk factors. 43
Vii. Details of default, if any, including therein the amount involved, duration of default and
present status, in repayment of:
a. Statutory dues; 195
b. Debentures and interest thereon; 195
c. | Deposits and interest thereon; and 195
d. | Loan from any bank or financial institution and interest thereon. 195
viii. Names, designation, address and phone number, email ID of the nodal/ compliance officer of 444
the company, if any, for the private placement offer process.
ix. Any default in annual filing of the company under the Companies Act, 2013 or the rules made 193
thereunder.
2. PARTICULARS OF THE OFFER
i Financial position of the company for the last three financial years. 32,196
ii. Date of passing of board resolution. 30
iii. Date of passing of resolution in the general meeting, authorizing the offer of securities. 30
iv. Kinds of securities offered (i.e. whether share or debenture) and class of security, the total 30
number of shares or other securities to be issued.
V. Price at which the security is being offered including the premium, if any, along with 30
justification of the price.
Vi. Name and address of the valuer who performed valuation of the security offered, and basis Not applicable
on which the price has been arrived at along with report of the registered valuer.
Vii. Relevant date with reference to which the price has been arrived at. 20
viii. The class or classes of persons to whom the allotment is proposed to be made. 19, 30, 142, 143
ix. Intention of promoters, directors or key managerial personnel to subscribe to the offer Not applicable
(applicable in case they intend to subscribe to the offer).
X. The proposed time within which the allotment shall be completed. 19
Xi. The names of the proposed allottees and the percentage of post private placement capital that 73
may be held by them.
Xii. The change in control, if any, in the company that would occur consequent to the private 132
placement.
xiii. The number of persons to whom allotment on preferential basis/ private placement/ rights Not applicable
issue has already been made during the year, in terms of number of securities as well as price.
Xiv. The justification for the allotment proposed to be made for consideration other than cash Not applicable
together with valuation report of the registered valuer.
XV. Amount which the company intends to raise by way of proposed offer of securities. Cover page, 30, 69
XVi. Terms of raising of securities: Not applicable
a. Duration, if applicable;
b. Rate of dividend;
C. Rate of interest;
d. Mode of payment; and
e. Mode of repayment.
XVii. Proposed time schedule for which the private placement offer cum application letter is valid. 19
Xviii. Purposes and objects of the offer. 69
XiX. Contribution being made by the promoters or directors either as part of the offer or separately Not applicable
in furtherance of such objects.
XX. Principle terms of assets charged as security, if applicable. Not applicable
XXi. The details of significant and material orders passed by the regulators, courts and tribunals Not applicable
impacting the going concern status of the company and its future operations.
XXii. The pre-issue and post-issue shareholding pattern of the company in the specified format. 73
3. MODE OF PAYMENT FOR SUBSCRIPTION
i Cheque 146
ii. Demand draft
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S. No.

Disclosure Requirements

Relevant Page of this
Preliminary Placement
Document

Other banking channels

4. DISCLOSURES WITH REGARD TO INTEREST OF DIRECTORS, LITIGATION
ETC
i Any financial or other material interest of the directors, promoters or key managerial Not applicable
personnel in the offer and the effect of such interest in so far as it is different from the interests
of other persons.
ii. Details of any litigation or legal action pending or taken by any Ministry or Department of 193
the Government or a statutory authority against any promoter of the offeree company during
the last three years immediately preceding the year of the issue of the private placement offer
cum application letter and any direction issued by such Ministry or Department or statutory
authority upon conclusion of such litigation or legal action shall be disclosed.
iii. Remuneration of directors (during the current year and last three financial years). 129, 130
iv. Related party transactions entered during the last three financial years immediately preceding 42
the year of issue of private placement offer cum application letter including with regard to
loans made or, guarantees given or securities provided.
V. Summary of reservations or qualifications or adverse remarks of auditors in the last five 39
financial years immediately preceding the year of issue of private placement offer cum
application letter and of their impact on the financial statements and financial position of the
company and the corrective steps taken and proposed to be taken by the company for each of
the said reservations or qualifications or adverse remark.
Vi. Details of any inquiry, inspections or investigations initiated or conducted under the 193
Companies Act, 2013 or any previous company law in the last three years immediately
preceding the year of issue of private placement offer cum application letter in the case of
company and all of its subsidiaries, and if there were any prosecutions filed (whether pending
or not) fines imposed, compounding of offences in the last three years immediately preceding
the year of the private placement offer cum application letter and if so, section-wise details
thereof for the company and all of its subsidiaries.
vii. Details of acts of material frauds committed against the company in the last three years, if 193
any, and if so, the action taken by the company.
5. FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
a. The capital structure of the company in the following manner in a tabular form:
()(A) | The authorised, issued, subscribed and paid up capital (number of securities, description and 71
aggregate nominal value);
(B) | Size of the present offer; Cover page, 30, 71
(C) |Paid up capital: 71
() | After the offer; 71
(I1) | After conversion of convertible instruments (if applicable); Not applicable
(D) | Share premium account (before and after the offer). 71
(ii) | The details of the existing share capital of the issuer company in a tabular form, indicating 71
therein with regard to each allotment, the date of allotment, the number of shares allotted, the
face value of the shares allotted, the price and the form of consideration.
Provided that the issuer company shall also disclose the number and price at which each of
the allotments were made in the last one year preceding the date of the private placement offer
cum application letter separately indicating the allotments made for considerations other than
cash and the details of the consideration in each case.
b. Profits of the company, before and after making provision for tax, for the three financial years 33, 35,38
immediately preceding the date of issue of private placement offer cum application letter.
C. Dividends declared by the company in respect of the said three financial years; interest 75
coverage ratio for last three years (cash profit after tax plus interest paid/ interest paid).
d. A summary of the financial position of the company as in the three audited balance sheets 32, 34,37
immediately preceding the date of issue of private placement offer cum application letter.
e. Audited Cash Flow Statement for the three years immediately preceding the date of issue of 33, 36, 38
private placement offer cum application letter.
f. Any change in accounting policies during the last three years and their effect on the profits 96
and the reserves of the company.
Part — B (To be filed by the Applicant)
i. Name 446
ii. Father's name
iii. Complete Address including Flat/House Number, Street, Locality, Pin Code
iv. Phone number, if any
V. Email -id, if any
Vi. PAN Number
Vii. Bank Account Details
6. A DECLARATION BY THE DIRECTORS THAT 443
a. The company has complied with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules

made thereunder.
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S. No.

Disclosure Requirements

Relevant Page of this
Preliminary Placement

Document
b. The compliance with the said Act and the rules made thereunder do not imply that payment
of dividend or interest or repayment of preference shares or of debentures, if applicable, is
guaranteed by the Central Government.
c. The monies received under the offer shall be used only for the purposes and objects indicated

in the private placement offer cum application letter.

I am authorized by the Board of Directors of the Company vide resolution number 2 dated
June 25, 2019 to sign this form and declare that all the requirements of Companies Act, 2013
and the rules made thereunder in respect of the subject matter of this form and matters
incidental thereto have been complied with. Whatever is stated in this form and in the
attachments thereto is true, correct and complete and no information material to the subject
matter of this form has been suppressed or concealed and is as per the original records
maintained by the promoters subscribing to the Memorandum of Association and Articles
of Association.

It is further declared and verified that all the required attachments have been completely,
correctly and legibly attached to this form.
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SUMMARY OF BUSINESS

Unless otherwise stated, the financial data used in this section has been derived from our audited consolidated financial
statements as of and for the financial year ended on March 31, 2019 (including as of and for the financial year ended March
31, 2018 from the restated financial data for such financial year included therein).

Overview

We are one of the leading real estate development companies in India, with a focus on developing residential projects. We
currently have real estate development projects in 11 cities in India. We undertake our projects through our in-house team of
professionals and by collaborating with entities with domestic and international operations. Our consolidated total income for
the financial years 2019 and 2018 (restated) was X 3,221.98 crore and X 2,102.36 crore, respectively. Our consolidated profit
after tax for financial years 2019 and 2018 (restated) was I 253.15 crore and X 86.91 crore, respectively. During the financial
year 2019, our projects had a booking value of % 5,316 crore and we had 16 new projects and phase launches.

Our Promoters and Promoter Group collectively held 70.81% of our outstanding equity share capital as of June 21, 2019. We
are a part of the Godrej group and the real estate business is one of the key growth businesses of the group. We believe that the
‘Godrej” brand commands a strong resonance among the populace in India and is associated with trust, quality and reliability.
The ‘Godrej’ brand was valued at $2.4 billion in March, 2019 by Interbrand, a London-based brand consultant.

We believe that we have high standards of corporate governance and an eminent Board of Directors. Our Board and
management periodically review our internal policies and business practices and have been instrumental in building our
reputation in the real estate sector in India. Being part of the Godrej group and our strong business practices and reputation in
the real estate sector in India have enabled us to scale up and become India’s largest publicly-listed real estate developer by
booking value during the financial years 2015 to 2019 (Source: PropEquity).

We are present in 11 cities (the National Capital Region, Pune, Mumbai, Bengaluru, Kolkata, Ahmedabad, Chandigarh, Chennai,
Mangalore, Nagpur and Kochi). We focus primarily on residential projects. Residential projects constituted approximately 94%
of our total estimated Saleable Area as of March 31, 2019. In addition, we also have certain commercial projects at various
stages of development, which constituted approximately 6% of our total estimated Saleable Area as of March 31, 2019.

The table below provides our estimated Saleable Area for our Ongoing Projects and Forthcoming Projects by city as of March
31, 2019:

City Estimated Saleable Area” Number of Projects
(in million sq. ft)
NCR 21.40 13
Pune 47.93 13
Mumbai 19.22 21
Bengaluru 25.13 16
Kolkata 4.26 3
Ahmedabad 17.20 1
Others 8.34 6
Total 143.48 73

“Total estimated Saleable Area, irrespective of the revenue, profit or area sharing arrangement. Saleable Area is management estimates
based on initial plans and architectural drawings.

We have entered into a memorandum of understanding (the “MoU”), dated October 4, 2011, with Godrej & Boyce for
developing lands owned by them in various regions across India. Under the MoU, for their land in Vikhroli, Mumbai, we are
entitled to receive 10.0% of the money received from the sales of units as a development manager fee, while we are required to
bear all costs related to the project management, sales and marketing, with the total area of land to be developed pursuant to
the MoU not yet determined. Under the MoU, we have been appointed as Development Manager for the projects at land owned
by Godrej & Boyce in Vikhroli, Mumbai, such as Godrej Platinum, Godrej G&B Vikhroli (Residential) and G&B Vikhroli
(Mixed-use).

We have also entered into a limited liability partnership agreement (the “LLP Agreement”), dated July 18, 2011, with Godrej
& Boyce for the joint development of Godrej Lawkim, a real estate project in Thane Mumbai. Under the terms of the LLP
Agreement, we and the counterparties are required to contribute certain amounts as fixed capital and we are entitled to a 32%
share of the partnership profits.

Apart from Godrej & Boyce, we have also entered into a Development Management agreement (the “DMA”), dated June 23,
2016, with Godrej Agrovet Limited for the development of a land parcel of approximate 100 acres in Sarjapur, Bengaluru.
Under the terms of the DMA, we are responsible for providing development management services of managing the execution
of the project. Godrej Agrovet Limited is required to pay to us 12.0% of the money received for the sales of units as a
development management fee.
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We generally use the “joint development model” for developing properties, which entails entering into a development
agreement with the owner(s) of the land parcel(s) sought to be developed and developing the project jointly with the land owner.
We are, typically, entitled to share in the development property, a share of the revenue or profits generated from the sale of the
developed property, a development management fee, or any combination of such entitlements. We believe that the joint
development model and the development manager role allows us to be more capital efficient and hold fewer assets.

In some projects, we offer and sell equity interests in project-specific companies to long-term investors. This business model
enables us to hold fewer assets, be more capital efficient, achieve higher returns on our investments in the projects and undertake
more projects without investing large amounts of capital towards the purchase of land. We are thereby able to limit our risk
through project diversification while maintaining significant management control over these projects. As of March 31, 2019,
10 of our projects were being undertaken with long-term equity partners who have invested in project-specific companies. On
some of these projects, we have partnered with a residential development financing platform managed by one of our group
companies, Godrej Fund Management for third party equity investments in such projects.

Our Strengths
We believe that the following are our principal strengths:
Strong Parentage and Established Brand Name

We are a part of the Godrej group, among India’s oldest and most prominent corporate groups. The diversified business interests
of the Godrej group includes fast moving consumer goods, advanced engineering, home appliances, furniture, security, agri-
care and real estate development, which is one of the key growth businesses of the Godrej group. We believe that the ‘Godrej’
brand is recognisable in India due to its long established presence in the Indian market, the diversified businesses in which the
Godrej group operates and the trust we believe it has developed over the course of its operating history. The ‘Godrej’ brand has
been ranked among the 10 most valuable Indian brands in the Interbrand’s Best Indian Brands 2019 study.

We believe that the strength of the ‘Godrej’ brand and its association with trust, quality and reliability helps us in many aspects
of our business, including entering into joint development agreements, land sourcing, expanding to new cities and markets,
formulating business associations and building relationships with our customers, service providers, process partners, investors
and lenders.

We are ranked as the most trusted Indian real estate brand by the Brand Trust Report in 2019. In addition, we have received
several business awards and recognitions. We won the ‘Best Realty Brand 2018-19° by the Economic Times, ‘Trusted Real
Estate Brand’ at the India Best Brand Series and Awards in 2018, ‘Builder of the Year’ at the CNBC-Awaaz Real Estate Awards
in 2018, ‘One of India’s Top Builders’ award at the Construction World Architect and Builder Awards 2018 and 2017,
‘Developer of the Year’ at the Golden Brick Awards 2018, ‘Real Estate Company of the Year’ at the Construction Week India
Awards in 2018, ‘Excellence in Real Estate-India’ at Business Excellence Awards 2019 by Corporate Insider and ‘India’s
Greatest Brands 2017-18’ in the real estate industry by Asia One — ‘Real Estate Industry’s Commercial and Residential
Properties. In addition, our GPL Design Studio won the ‘Best Design Thinking Organization’ at the Design Thinking Summit
and Awards 2019.

Strong Project Pipeline

As of March 31, 2019, we had a project pipeline of approximately 143.48 million sq. ft. of estimated Saleable Area across 11
cities. As of March 31, 2019, we had 43 Ongoing Projects comprising approximately 71.02 million sg. ft. of estimated Saleable
Avrea and 30 Forthcoming Projects comprising approximately 72.46 million sq. ft. of estimated Saleable Area. During the last
three financial years, we added 29 projects with approximately 71.35 million sq. ft. of estimated Saleable Area, of which we
added 11 new projects with approximately 30.40 million sq. ft. of estimated Saleable Area during the financial year 2019,
including our largest ever deal in the Pune market.

Most of our land parcels are located in four key real estate markets in India, Mumbai, Pune, Bengaluru and the National Capital
Region, and include land parcels, which we own directly or indirectly, and land parcels over which we have development rights,
either directly or indirectly (through developers in case of development manager agreements), through definitive agreements
or memoranda of understanding. These assets provide us with a strong project pipeline to fuel our growth strategy over the next
few years.

Track Record of Joint Development Projects

We typically undertake projects through the joint development model and enter into development agreements with land owners
to develop their land. These agreements provide us with the development rights to land in exchange for a pre-determined portion
of revenues, profits or developable area generated from the project. This model reduces our upfront land-acquisition costs and
reduces our risk exposure to the project thereby allowing us to be more capital efficient, achieve higher returns on our
investments and expand our project portfolio. We are also able to limit our risk through project diversification while maintaining
significant management control over these projects.
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As of March 31, 2019, approximately 78% of our total estimated Saleable Area was being undertaken as joint development
projects. The scale and number of joint development projects with a number of land owners has strengthened our business
development capabilities through our existing relationships with land owners, intermediaries and independent property
companies. Our extensive experience entering into innovative deal structures benefitting us as well as the land owners is one
of our significant competitive advantages for sourcing land deals in these markets. We intend to continue to build on these
strengths to support our growth strategy going forward.

We also undertake the development of projects as a project development manager on a fee basis. In these projects, we have
little or no capital investment.

Strong Management, Eminent Board of Directors, Good Corporate Governance Practices and Strong Employee Base

Our Board includes a combination of executive as well as independent Directors with significant business experience. Our
Board is committed to implementing best practices of corporate governance and achieving a high level of transparency, with a
focus on investors’ best interests and the maximisation of shareholder value. Our management personnel are qualified
professionals, many of whom have spent a number of years in various functions of real estate development. We believe that
our strong business practices and reputation in the real estate sector enable us to execute our joint development model of
developing projects across India.

We believe that a motivated and empowered employee base is the key to our competitive advantage. Our employee value
proposition is based on a strong focus on employee development, an exciting work culture, empowerment and competitive
compensation. Continued talent development is a key focus area for us and is implemented through diligently designed talent
management processes. We have structured programs for executive education and coaching for senior employees, executive
MBA programs, study visits and a variety of customized learning initiatives to support continuous learning and development
of our employees. For example, last year, our senior management team, including executive directors, visited China and
interacted with some of the leading Chinese developers to understand their growth model, business processes and organization
structures that have allowed them to scale up successfully. We believe that the skills and diversity of our employees give us the
flexibility and agility to adapt to the future needs of our business. We have been certified by GPTW as “Great Places to Work”
in 2019-20, a recognition that reflects the strength of our employee centric culture and human resource practices.

Our Business Strategies
The following are the key elements of our business strategy:
Enhance and Leverage the ‘Godrej’ Brand and Group Resources

One of our key strengths is our affiliation and relationship with the Godrej group and the strong brand equity generated from

the ‘Godrej’ brand name. We believe that our customers, vendors and members of the financial community perceive the ‘Godrej’
brand to be that of a trusted provider of quality products and services. The ‘Godrej’ brand has been ranked among the 10 most

valuable Indian brands in the Interbrand’s Best Indian Brands 2019 study and our Company was ranked as the most trusted

Indian real estate brand by the Brand Trust Report in 2019. We believe the ongoing consolidation in the real estate industry

may lead to fewer established and credible players in the market and we intend to continue to enhance and leverage the ‘Godrej’

brand through strategic branding initiatives, consumer engagement programs and integrated marketing campaigns. In addition,

our association with the Godrej group helps us leverage group resources including the land owned by other companies in the

Godrej group.

Build Upon Extensive Portfolio of Joint Development Projects and Other Innovative Structures to Optimise Resources

We intend to continue to develop most of our projects through joint development agreements with land owners. We believe
that industry developments such as the implementation of The Real Estate (Regulation and Development) Act, 2016 (the
“RERA”) will help in the growth of joint development model in India, as smaller developers may find it difficult to comply
with the regulatory requirements and accordingly, look to developers such as our Company, for developing their land assets.
The current liquidity environment in the real estate industry also offers opportunities to acquire developable assets at discounted
valuation. We believe we are well positioned to benefit from this opportunity by leveraging our existing relationships and
established track record with land owners. As of March 31, 2019, we had 52 of our projects under joint development agreements
and partnership deeds with several land owners. This provides us a competitive advantage to get access to land assets across
high growth markets through innovative structures while maintaining an asset-light portfolio.

As of March 31, 2019, 10 of our projects were being undertaken with long-term equity partners who have invested in project-
specific companies. We will continue to explore opportunities to undertake projects with such investors on an ongoing basis.
We believe this allows us to remain asset light while enabling us to focus on our key core functions of land sourcing, project
execution and marketing as we continue to expand our operations. We also have a residential development financing platform
within a group company, Godrej Fund Management, for third party equity investments in residential projects. The platform
evaluates investment opportunities in our project-specific companies from time to time, pursuant to which we may enter into
definitive agreements for equity contributions for the development of some of our projects.
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We will continue to undertake development of projects as a project development manager on a fee basis, as a strategic choice
to diversify our portfolio and get access to specific micro markets while remaining asset-light. As of March 31, 2019, 13 of our
projects were being undertaken under development manager model. Further, we may, from time to time, enter into definitive
agreements pursuant to term sheets, memoranda of understanding with various parties for acquisition of land development
rights.

Focus on Developing Residential Projects in Select Regions

We believe that the growth opportunity for real estate development in India will be driven by growing trend of, among other
things, urbanization, falling household sizes, increasing working population and increase in mid-income households. These
growth drivers would be especially pronounced in Tier 1 cities. Hence, we intend to continue with developing properties in
Mumbai, Pune, Bengaluru and the National Capital Region as our growth focus geographies. We already have significant
operational presence and a number of projects in these cities and during the financial year 2019, we had achieved booking value
of over X 900 crore in each of these four markets. Growth focus on these cities would allow us to better leverage our experience,
operational capabilities and relationships for effective and faster expansion of our portfolio. As of March 31, 2019, 75.49% of
our estimated Saleable Area comprised residential projects in these four regions.

Focus on Execution to Capitalize on Industry Opportunities

As we target significant growth over next few years to capitalize on industry opportunities, we do recognize the importance of
delivering quality projects on a timely basis and ensuring a satisfying customer experience. We intend to continue to scale up
the size of our operations and our project teams while focusing on strengthening our execution capabilities. We have grown our
employee base from 925 employees as of March 31, 2016 to 1,424 employees as of March 31, 2019. We have delivered
approximately 20 million sq. ft. of real estate during the last five financial years, of which we had delivered approximately 3.22
million sq. ft. across Mumbai, Pune, NCR, Kolkata and Chennai during the financial year 2019. We shall continue to build
scale and consolidate our leadership in our core markets through focused efforts on sales and marketing, as well as efforts to
manage costs efficiently. Selective outsourcing of the development process enables us to undertake more projects and source
best-in-class development partners, while optimally utilizing our resources.

We intend to continue to outsource activities such as design, architecture and construction to skilled partners. Our in-house
design studio, which has won multiple international awards, collaborates with our design partners for design ideation and
translation into documentation and built form. We are working with renowned international and domestic firms across a variety
of design services, such as Pelli Clarke Pelli Architects LLP for our projects Godrej One and The Trees, Conran and Partners,
Sasaki Associates Ltd, Lighting Design Partnership (LDP) PTY Ltd, One Landscape Design Pte Ltd, KPF and SOM India LLC.

On the construction front, we shall continue to work with renowned domestic contractors such as Larsen & Toubro Limited
and Capacite Infraprojects Limited for some of our projects. To meet organization’s objective of scale and faster turnaround,
we are in the process of adopting modern methods of construction, including precast and tunnel formwork. We have already
implemented the precast construction technology at Godrej Golf Links, our 100 acre development in Noida.

We are also focusing on use of information technology and digital platforms as a lever to support scale and strengthening of
our execution capabilities. Most of our internal process are already implemented through robust IT systems. These include SAP
for enterprise resource planning, eCRM for customer related processes and Success Factors for managing people processes. We
focus on adopting the latest technologies for automation, standardization and data driven decision making so that we are able
to scale up efficiently and also improve our agility. We are also investing in our digital capabilities and Digital4U, a new digital
platform is in the process of being implemented. It shall allow us to serve customers, sales representatives and channel partners
through a mobile app and a web enabled platform. It will also allow us to deliver a consistent, seamless and compelling user
experience across regions and channels.

Focus on Sustainable Development

We follow a comprehensive approach to sustainable development from an early design phase through the construction period.
Our focus on sustainable development covers environmental parameters including site selection and planning, pedestrian
friendly developments, indoor environmental quality, maximizing day lighting and natural ventilation, water and energy
efficiency and responsible material sourcing.

We are a member of the Indian Green Building Council, which is actively involved in promoting the green building concept in
India with a vision to serve as a single point solutions provider and facilitator for green building activities in India. As part of
the International Finance Corporation’s eco-cities program, we are one of the five founding members of the Sustainable Housing
Leadership Consortium, whose mandate is to promote sustainable urban development. Each of our new project strives to achieve
the minimum level of silver under the rating system specified by IGBC. In addition, our Company was ranked 4™ in Asia and
8" globally by the Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark 2018. The Godrej Garden City, Ahmedabad project received
platinum certification by the Indian Building Council under its Green Residential Society rating in 2017. We have implemented
environmentally-friendly building concepts in many of our projects in line with leading global sustainability practices.
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SUMMARY OF THE ISSUE

The following is a general summary of the terms of the Issue. This summary should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified
in its entirety by, the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Preliminary Placement Document, including in
“Risk Factors”, “Use of Proceeds”, “Placement”, “Issue Procedure” and “Description of the Equity Shares” on pages 43, 69,
150, 139 and 165, respectively.

Issuer Godrej Properties Limited

Face Value % 5 per Equity Share

Issue Price T [e] per Equity Share

Floor Price % 928 per Equity Share, calculated in accordance with Regulation 176 under Chapter VI of the

SEBI ICDR Regulations.

The Company may offer a discount of not more than 5% on the Floor Price in accordance with
the approval of the shareholders of our Company accorded through their resolution passed by way
of postal ballot on June 8, 2019 and in terms of Regulation 176(1) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Issue Size Issue of up to [e] Equity Shares, aggregating up to approximately X [®] million, at a premium of
T [e] each.

A minimum of 10% of the Issue Size i.e. at least [®] Equity Shares, shall be available for
Allocation to Mutual Funds only and the balance [e] Equity Shares should be available for
Allocation to all QIBs, including Mutual Funds. In case of under-subscription in the portion
available for Allocation to Mutual Funds, such minimum portion or part thereof may be Allotted
to other Eligible QIBs.

Date of Board resolution April 30, 2019
Date of shareholders’ resolution June 8, 2019
Authority for the Issue The Issue has been authorised by the Board on April 30, 2019 and the shareholders of our

Company pursuant to the resolution dated June 8, 2019, passed through a postal ballot.

Eligible Investors QIBs that are eligible to participate in the Issue and which are not excluded pursuant to Regulation
179(2)(b) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. In relation to the Issue, Eligible Investors shall consist
of (i) QIBs which are resident in India; and (ii) Eligible FPIs, participating through Schedule 2 of
the FEMA Regulations. Subject to (ii) above, in the United States persons reasonably believed to
be “qualified institutional buyers” as defined in Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act may
participate in the Issue. Further, except as provide in (ii) above, other non-resident QIBs (including
FVCIs and non-resident multilateral and bilateral development financial institutions) are not
permitted to participate in the Issue.

The list of Eligible QIBs to whom this Preliminary Placement Document and Application Form
is delivered shall be determined by the Book Running Lead Managers in consultation with our
Company, at its discretion. For further details, see “Issue Procedure — Qualified Institutional
Buyers” on page 142.

Dividend See “Description of the Equity Shares” and “Dividends” on pages 165 and 75, respectively.
Indian taxation See “Taxation” on page 169.

Equity Shares issued and 229,394,076 Equity Shares

outstanding immediately prior to the

Issue

Equity Shares issued and [#] Equity Shares

outstanding immediately after the

Issue

Listing and trading Our Company has obtained in-principle approvals dated June 25, 2019 and June 25, 2019 in terms

of Regulation 28(1)(a) of the SEBI Listing Regulations from BSE and NSE, respectively, for
listing of the Equity Shares issued pursuant to the Issue. Our Company will make applications to
each of the Stock Exchanges after Allotment to obtain final listing and trading approval for the
Equity Shares after the Allotment and after the credit of the Equity Shares to the beneficiary
account of the Depository Participant, respectively.
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Lock-in

For details in relation to lock-up, see “Placement — Lock-in” on page 150 for a description of
restrictions on our Company and one of our Promoters, Godrej Industries Limited, in relation to
the Equity Shares.

Transferability restrictions

The Equity Shares to be issued and Allotted pursuant to this Issue shall not be sold for a period of
one year from the date of Allotment, except on the floor of the Stock Exchanges. For details in
relation to other transfer restrictions, please see “Transfer Restrictions” on page 159.

Use of proceeds

The gross proceeds from the Issue will be approximately % [#] million. The net proceeds from the
Issue, after deducting fees, commissions and expenses of the Issue, will be approximately X [e]
million.

See “Use of Proceeds” on page 69 for additional information regarding the use of net proceeds
from the Issue.

Risk factors

See “Risk Factors” on page 43 for a discussion of risks you should consider before investing in
the Equity Shares.

Closing Date The Allotment of the Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue is expected to be made on or about [e],
2019.
Ranking The Equity Shares to be issued pursuant to the Issue shall be subject to the provisions of the

Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association and shall rank pari passu with the
existing Equity Shares of our Company, including in respect of voting rights and dividends.

The holders of Equity Shares (who hold Equity Shares as on the applicable record date) will be
entitled to participate in dividends and other corporate benefits, if any, declared by our Company
after the Closing Date, in compliance with the Companies Act, 2013, the SEBI Listing Regulations
and other applicable laws and regulations. Equity shareholders of our Company may attend and
vote in shareholders’ meetings in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. For
further details, see “Dividends” and “Description of the Equity Shares” on pages 75 and 165,
respectively.

Security codes for the Equity Shares

ISIN INE484J01027
BSE Code 533150
NSE Symbol GODREJPROP
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following tables set out selected financial information extracted from our Audited Consolidated Financial Statements
(including as of and for the financial year ended March 31, 2018 from the restated financial data for such financial year
included therein), prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, Companies Act, 2013 and the
requirements of SEBI Listing Regulations, as applicable, and presented in “Financial Information” on page 196. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ” and “Financial Information”,
on pages 76 and 196, respectively, for further details.

Summary of consolidated Balance Sheet information as at March 31, 2019
(Currency in INR Crore)

Particulars As At March 31, 2019 As At March 31, 2018
(Restated)

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 71.90 84.82
Capital Work-in-Progress 98.77 71.37
Investment Property 2.20 2.48
Goodwill on consolidation 0.04 0.04
Other Intangible Assets 22.55 25.29
Intangible Assets Under Development 0.77 0.12
Investment in Joint VVentures and Associate 722.85 223.95
Financial Assets

Other Investments 862.20 686.33
Loans 28.57 83.81
Other Non-Current Financial Assets 32.85 0.01
Deferred Tax Assets (Net) 515.53 640.54
Income Tax Assets (Net) 157.98 116.40
Other Non-Current Non Financial Assets 56.61 15.28
Total Non-Current Assets 2,572.82 1,950.44
Current Assets

Inventories 2,210.80 3,733.40
Financial Assets

Investments 1,052.10 543.84
Trade Receivables 159.91 156.16
Cash and Cash Equivalents 152.51 126.31
Bank Balances other than above 190.09 206.39
Loans 1,030.19 995.30
Other Current Financial Assets 343.02 226.41
Other Current Non Financial Assets 381.30 333.62
Total Current Assets 5,5619.92 6,321.43
TOTAL ASSETS 8,092.74 8,271.87
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY

Equity Share Capital 114.66 108.24
Other Equity 2,354.35 1,102.16
Total Equity 2,469.01 1,210.40
LIABILITIES

Non-Current Liabilities

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings 500.00 500.00
Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net) 0.73 0.59
Provisions 11.52 11.34
Total Non-Current Liabilities 512.25 511.93
Current Liabilities

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings 3,015.84 3,202.86
Trade Payables

total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and 13.45 9.00
small enterprises

total outstanding dues of creditors other than 234.25 303.96
micro enterprises and small enterprises

Other Current Financial Liabilities 262.09 258.40
Other Current Non Financial Liabilities 1,556.36 2,722.43
Provisions 11.15 6.39
Current Tax Liabilities (Net) 18.34 46.50
Total Current Liabilities 5,111.48 6,549.54
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Particulars

As At March 31, 2019

As At March 31, 2018
(Restated)

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

8,092.74

8,271.87

Extracted from audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2019 prepared in accordance with the Ind AS (including Ind AS 115

‘Revenue from contracts with customers’)

Summary of consolidated statement of profit and loss information for the year ended March 31, 2019

(Currency in INR Crore)

Particulars For the year ended March | For the year ended March
31, 2019 31, 2018
(Restated)

INCOME
Revenue from Operations 2,817.40 1,603.72
Other Income 404.58 498.64
Total Income 3,221.98 2,102.36
EXPENSES
Cost of Materials Consumed 565.11 1,111.23
Change in inventories of finished goods and construction work-in-progress 1,628.75 249.73
Employee Benefits Expense 173.04 138.42
Finance Costs 234.03 150.13
Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 14.34 16.13
Other Expenses 272.46 283.29
Total Expenses 2,887.73 1,948.93
Profit before share of profit in joint ventures and associate and tax 334.25 153.43
Share of profit/(loss) of joint ventures and associate (net of tax) 13.95 (36.55)
Profit before tax 348.20 116.88
Current Tax (31.59) 101.47
Deferred Tax Charge/(Credit) 126.64 (71.50)
Total Tax Expense 95.05 29.97
Profit for the Year 253.15 86.91
Other Comprehensive Income
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements of the defined benefit plan (0.50) (4.31)
Tax on above 0.17 1.50
Items that will be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange difference in translating the financial statements of a foreign 0.10 -
operations.
Other Comprehensive Income for the Year (Net of Tax) (0.23) (2.81)
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 252.92 84.10
Earnings Per Share (Amount in INR)
Basic 11.16 4.01
Diluted 11.15 4.01

Extracted from audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2019 prepared in accordance with the Ind AS (including Ind AS 115

‘Revenue from contracts with customers’)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows information for the year ended March 31, 2019

(Currency in INR Crore)

Particulars

For the year ended March

For the year ended

31, 2019 March 31, 2018
(Restated)

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Profit before tax 348.20 116.88
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation expense 14.34 16.13
Finance costs 234.03 150.13
Loss /(profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment (net) 7.35 (0.08)
Share of (profit)/loss in joint ventures and associate (13.95) 36.55
Share based payments to employees 3.55 3.99
Expenses on amalgamation 0.40 1.07
Interest income (232.40) (138.74)
Dividend income (0.00) -
Profit on sale of investments (net) (61.44) (209.44)
Income from Investment measured at FVTPL (95.63) (147.71)
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts 20.18 39.95
Liabilities written back (10.89) -
Werite down of inventories 4.75 100.87
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Particulars

For the year ended March

For the year ended

31, 2019 March 31, 2018
(Restated)

Lease rent from investment property (0.79) (0.37)
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes 217.70 (30.77)
Changes in Working Capital:
(Decrease)/Increase in Non-financial Liabilities (1,172.67) 187.73
(Decrease) in Financial Liabilities (71.77) (79.35)
Decrease in Inventories 1,632.45 1,124.85
(Increase)/Decrease in Non-financial Assets (0.58) (51.93)
(Increase) in Financial Assets (89.01) 72.81

298.42 1,254.11
Taxes Paid (net) (38.06) (68.52)
Net Cash Flows generated from operating activities 478.06 1,154.82
Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment, investment property and (74.38) (150.43)
intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0.59 0.14
Investment in debentures of joint ventures (141.33) (102.77)
(Purchase) of mutual funds (net) (386.45) (155.54)
Sale / (Purchase) of investments in fixed deposits (nhet) 15.81 (161.75)
Investment in joint ventures and associate (503.93) (20.16)
Proceeds from sale of investment in joint ventures 0.01 -
Proceeds from sale of investment in subsidiaries - 201.24
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash and cash equivalents (42.73) -
Loan refunded by/(given) to joint ventures (net) 29.80 (670.37)
Loan given to others (net) (8.00) (0.26)
Expenses on amalgamation (0.40) (1.07)
Dividend received 0.00 -
Interest received 129.64 87.17
Lease rent from investment property 0.79 0.37
Net Cash Flows (used in) investing activities (980.58) (973.43)
Cash Flow from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of equity share capital (net of issue expenses) 999.53 0.06
Proceeds from long-term borrowings - 500.00
Repayment of long-term borrowings - (474.76)
Proceeds from /(Repayment of) short-term borrowings (net) 265.49 (221.68)
Interest paid (294.97) (298.42)
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares - 2.63
Payment of unclaimed dividend (0.00) (0.01)
Payment of unclaimed fixed deposits (0.27) (0.69)
Net Cash Flows generated from/ (used in) financing activities 969.78 (492.87)
Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 467.26 (311.48)
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Opening Balance (499.99) (188.51)
Cash and Cash equivalents of subsidiary acquired during the year 9.21 -
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Closing Balance (23.52) (499.99)

Extracted from audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2019 prepared in accordance with the Ind AS (including Ind AS 115

‘Revenue from contracts with customers’)

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents as per the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Particulars For the year ended March | For the year ended March
31, 2019 31, 2018
(Restated)
Cash and Cash Equivalents 152.51 126.31
Less: Bank overdrafts repayable on demand 176.03 626.30
Cash and Cash Equivalents as per the Consolidated Statement of Cash (23.52) (499.99)

Flows

Extracted from audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2019 prepared in accordance with the Ind AS (including Ind AS 115

‘Revenue from contracts with customers’)

Summary of consolidated Balance Sheet information as at March 31, 2018

(Currency in INR Crore)

Particulars As At March 31, 2018
ASSETS
Non-Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 84.82
Capital Work-in-Progress 71.37
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Particulars As At March 31, 2018

Investment Property 2.48
Goodwill 0.04
Other Intangible Assets 25.29
Intangible Assets Under Development 0.12
Investment in Joint VVentures and Associate 290.54
Financial Assets

Other Investments 686.33
Loans 83.81
Other Non-Current Financial Assets 0.01
Deferred Tax Assets (Net) 160.82
Income Tax Assets (Net) 116.40
Other Non-Current Non Financial Assets 15.28
Total Non-Current Assets 1,537.31
Current Assets

Inventories 2,343.69
Financial Assets

Investments 543.84
Trade Receivables 192.48
Cash and Cash Equivalents 126.31
Bank Balances other than above 188.42
Loans 1,081.85
Other Current Financial Assets 904.93
Other Current Non Financial Assets 203.36
Total Current Assets 5,584.88
TOTAL ASSETS 7,122.19
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY

Equity Share Capital 108.24
Other Equity 2,132.05
Total Equity 2,240.29
LIABILITIES

Non-Current Liabilities

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings 500.00
Provisions 11.33
Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net) 0.59
Total Non-Current Liabilities 511.92
Current Liabilities

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings 3,202.86
Trade Payables 312.63
Other Current Financial Liabilities 226.80
Other Current Non Financial Liabilities 577.74
Provisions 3.46
Current Tax Liabilities (Net) 46.49
Total Current Liabilities 4,369.98
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 7,122.19

Extracted from audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2018 prepared in accordance with the Ind AS

Summary of consolidated statement of profit and loss information for the year ended March 31, 2018

(Currency in INR Crore)

Particulars For the year ended March
31,2018

INCOME
Revenue from Operations 1,889.20
Other Income 501.47
Total Income 2,390.67
EXPENSES
Cost of Sales 1,468.66
Employee Benefits Expense 138.42
Finance Costs 150.13
Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 16.13
Other Expenses 286.52
Total Expenses 2,059.86
Profit before share of profit in joint ventures and associate and tax 330.81
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Particulars

For the year ended March

31, 2018
Share of profit of joint ventures and associate (net of tax) 6.02
Profit before tax 336.83
Current Tax 101.47
Deferred Tax Charge/(Credit) 0.40
Total Tax Expense 101.87
Profit for the Year 234.96
Other Comprehensive Income
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements of the defined benefit plan (4.31)
Tax on above 1.50
Items that will be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange difference in translating the financial statements of a foreign operations. -
Other Comprehensive Income for the Year (Net of Tax) (2.81)
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 232.15
Earnings Per Share (Amount in INR)
Basic 10.86
Diluted 10.85

Extracted from audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2018 prepared in accordance with the Ind AS

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows information for the year ended March 31, 2018

(Currency in INR Crore)

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2018

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Profit before tax 336.83
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation expense 16.13
Finance costs 150.13
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (net) (0.08)
Share of profit in joint ventures and associate (6.02)
Share based payments to employees 3.99
Expenses on amalgamation 1.07
Interest income (141.57)
Profit on sale of investments (net) (209.44)
Income from Investment measured at FVTPL (147.71)
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts 39.95
Write down of inventories 100.87
Lease rent from investment property (0.37)
Operating Profit before working capital changes 143.78
Changes in Working Capital:
Increase/(Decrease) in Non-financial Liabilities 83.87
(Decrease) in Financial Liabilities (135.98)
Decrease in Inventories 1,248.31
(Increase)/Decrease in Non-financial Assets (31.68)
(Increase) in Financial Assets (82.36)
1,082.16
Taxes Paid (net) (68.39)
Net Cash Flows generated from/(used in) operating activities 1,157.55
Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets (150.43)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0.14
Investment in debentures of joint ventures (102.77)
Proceeds from redemption of debentures of joint ventures -
(Purchase) / Sale of mutual funds (net) (155.54)
(Purchase) / Sale of investments in fixed deposits (nhet) (161.75)
Investment in joint ventures and associate (20.16)
Proceeds from sale of investment in subsidiaries 201.24
Loan given to joint ventures (net) (668.08)
Loan given to others (net) (8.11)
Expenses on amalgamation (1.07)
Interest Received 90.00
Lease rent from investment property 0.37
Net Cash Flows (used in) investing activities (976.16)
Cash Flow from financing activities
Proceeds from Issue of equity share capital (net of issue expenses) 0.06
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 500.00
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Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2018

Repayment of long-term borrowings (474.75)
(Repayment of) / Proceeds from short-term borrowings (net) (221.68)
Interest paid (298.43)
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares 2.63
Payment of unclaimed dividend (0.01)
Payment of unclaimed fixed deposits (0.69)
Net Cash Flows (used in)/ generated from financing activities (492.87)
Net (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (311.48)
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Opening Balance (188.51)
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Closing Balance (499.99)

Extracted from audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2018 prepared in accordance with the Ind AS

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents as per the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Particulars For the year ended March

31, 2018

Cash and Cash Equivalents 126.31
Less: Bank Overdrafts repayable on Demand 626.30
Cash and Cash Equivalents as per Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (499.99)

Extracted from audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2018 prepared in accordance with the Ind AS

Summary of consolidated statement of Balance Sheet information as at March 31, 2017

(Currency in INR Crore)

Particulars

As at March 31, 2017

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 74.79
Capital Work-in-Progress 0.01
Goodwill 0.04
Other Intangible Assets 27.23
Intangible Assets Under Development 0.02
Investment in Joint Ventures And Associate 81.40
Financial Assets

Investments 312.36
Loans 74.72
Other Non Current Financial Assets 2.01
Deferred Tax Assets (Net) 138.39
Income Tax Assets (Net) 136.32
Other Non Current Non Financial Assets 15.28
Total Non Current Assets 862.57
Current Assets

Inventories 3,966.12
Financial Assets

Investments 366.26
Trade Receivables 221.82
Cash And Cash Equivalents 73.82
Bank Balances Other Than Above 36.58
Loans 741.67
Other Current Financial Assets 730.41
Other Current Non Financial Assets 179.84
Total Current Assets 6,316.52
TOTAL ASSETS 7,179.09
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY

Equity Share Capital 108.18
Other Equity 1,895.55
Total Equity 2,003.73
LIABILITIES

Non Current Liabilities

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings 474.75
Trade Payables 0.52
Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net) 0.20
Provisions 6.71
Total Non Current Liabilities 482.18

Current Liabilities
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Particulars As at March 31, 2017

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings 3,501.73
Trade Payables 467.89
Other Current Financial Liabilities 200.60
Other Current Non-Financial Liabilities 510.49
Provisions 0.17
Current Tax Liabilities (Net) 12.30
Total Current Liabilities 4,693.18
Total Liabilities 5,175.36
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 7,179.09

Extracted from audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2017 prepared in accordance with the Ind AS

Summary of consolidated statement of profit and loss information for the year ended March 31, 2017

(Currency in INR Crore)

Particulars For the year ended March
31, 2017

INCOME
Revenue from Operations 1,582.93
Other Income 125.42
Total Income 1,708.35
EXPENSES
Cost of Sales 1,080.90
Employee Benefits Expense 47.53
Finance Costs 101.53
Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 14.50
Other Expenses 204.10
Total Expenses 1,448.56
Profit before share of profit in joint ventures and associate and tax 259.79
Share of profit/(loss) of joint ventures and associate (net of tax) 24.71
Profit before tax 284.50
Current Tax 109.77
Deferred Tax (32.07)
Profit for the Year 206.80
Other Comprehensive Income
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements of the defined benefit plan (0.48)
Tax on above 0.16
Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange difference in translating the financial statements of a foreign operations. (0.36)
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 206.12
Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of Parent 206.80
Non Controlling Interest -
Total Comprehensive Income attributable to:
Equity holders of Parent 206.12
Non Controlling Interest -
Earnings Per Share (Amount in INR)
Basic 9.60
Diluted 9.55

Extracted from audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2017 prepared in accordance with the Ind AS

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows information for the year ended March 31, 2017

(Currency in INR Crore)

Particulars

For the Year ended
March 31, 2017

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Profit before Tax 284.50
Adjustment for:

Depreciation and Amortisation 14.50
Finance Costs 101.53
(Profit)/ Loss on sale of Property, Plant & Equipment and Intangible Assets (Net) (0.20)
Assets Written Off 0.00
Provision for Doubtful Advances /(written back) (Net) -
Share of (Profit)/Loss of Joint Ventures (net of tax) (24.71)
Share Based Payments 2.49
Expenses of Amalgamation 1.35

Diminution in value of investments
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Particulars For the Year ended
March 31, 2017
Interest Income (102.39)
Dividend Income -
Income from Investment measured at FVTPL (21.77)
Operating Profit before working capital changes 255.30
Adjustment for:
Increase/ (Decrease) in Non financial Liabilities (151.04)
Increase/ (Decrease) in Financial Liabilities (356.79)
(Increase)/ Decrease in Inventories 171.61
(Increase)/ Decrease in Non financial Assets 20.28
(Increase)/ Decrease in Financial Assets (345.33)
(661.27)
Taxes Paid (Net) (160.32)
Net Cash Flow from Operating activities (566.29)
Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Purchase of Property, Plant & Equipment and Intangible Assets (9.42)
Sale of Property, Plant & Equipment and Intangible Assets 0.29
Sale/(Purchase) of Investments (48.56)
(Investment in)/Withdrawal from Joint Ventures 1.56
Expenses of Amalgamation (1.35)
Interest Received 71.59
Dividend Received -
Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities 14.11
Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Proceeds from Issue of Equity Share Capital (net of issue expenses) 0.05
Proceeds from/ (Repayment of) Long Term Borrowings (net) (30.73)
Proceeds from/(Repayment of) Short Term Borrowings (net) 642.50
Interest Paid (311.90)
Proceeds from Sale of Treasury Shares 34.82
Payment of Dividend (0.00)
Tax on Distributed Profits -
Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities 334.74
Net Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalent (217.44)
Cash & Cash Equivalent -Opening Balance 36.68
Acquired Pursuant to the Scheme of Amalgamation -
Cash & Cash Equivalent -Closing Balance (180.76)

Extracted from audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2017 prepared in accordance with the Ind AS

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents as per the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Particulars For the year ended March

31, 2017
Cash and Cash Equivalents 73.82
Less: Bank Overdrafts repayable on Demand 254.56
Cash and Cash Equivalents as per Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (180.76)

Extracted from audited consolidated financial statements for the Fiscal 2017 prepared in accordance with the Ind AS

Reservations, qualifications or adverse remarks by Auditor:

There have been no reservations, qualifications and adverse remarks in the statutory auditors’ reports on the standalone audited
financial statements and the consolidated audited financial statements of the Company for the last five Fiscals immediately
preceding the date of this Preliminary Placement Document. The details of emphasis of matters and other matters made by our
Statutory Auditors during Fiscals 2019 and 2018, and our statutory auditors for the prior period of Fiscals 2017, 2016 and 2015,
are set out below:

Financial Year 2019
Emphasis of matter

We draw attention to note 41 of the consolidated financial statements, relating to remuneration paid to the Executive Chairman
and the Managing Director & CEO of the Holding Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2019 being in excess of
the limits prescribed under section 197 of the Act by %5.81 crores, which is subject to the approval of the Shareholders. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Financial Year 2018
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Other matters

@ We did not audit the Ind AS financial information of one subsidiary whose financial information reflect total assets of
ZNil and net assets of *Nil as at March 31, 2018, total revenues of 22.28 crore, total profit after tax of 31.52 crore and
total comprehensive income (comprising of profit and other comprehensive income) of 31.52 crores for the period
from April 1, 2017 to June 21, 2017, as considered in the consolidated Ind AS financial statements. This financial
information is unaudited and has been furnished to us by the Management of the Holding Company and our opinion
on the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, in so far as it related to the amounts and disclosures included in
respect of this subsidiary, and our report in terms of sub-section (3) of section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to
the aforesaid subsidiary, is based solely on such unaudited financial information. In our opinion and according to the
information and explanation given to us by the Managements of the Holding Company, this financial information is
not material to the Group.

Our opinion on the consolidated Ind AS financial statements and our report on the Other and Regulatory Requirements
below, is not modified in respect of the above matter with respect to our reliance on the financial statements certified
by the Management.

(b) The audited consolidated Ind AS financial statements of the Group, its associates and its joint ventures for the
corresponding year ended March 31, 2017 prepared in accordance with Ind AS included in these consolidated Ind AS
financial statements, have been audited by the predecessor auditor whose audit report dated May 4, 2017 expressed an
unmodified opinion on those audited consolidated Ind AS financial statements.

Financial Year 2017

We did not audit the financial statements of one subsidiary, whose financial statements reflect total assets of ¥9.39 crores as at
March 31, 2017 and net assets of ¥7.49 crores as at March 31, 2017, total revenue of 9.78 crores and net cash inflows
amounting to 8.23 crores for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements. These financial
statements have been audited by the another auditor whose report has been furnished to us by the management and our opinion
on the consolidated financial statements, in so far as it related to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of this
subsidiary and our report in terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143 of the Act, in so far as it related to the aforesaid subsidiary,
is based solely on the reports of the other auditor.

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on Other and Regulatory Requirements below, is
not modified in respect of the above matter with respect to our reliance on the work done and the report of the other auditor.

Financial Year 2016
Emphasis of matter
We draw attention to the following matters in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1) Note 28 (A) to the consolidated financial statements, regarding the Scheme of Amalgamation of Godrej Premium Builders
Private Limited (GPBPL), a subsidiary of Godrej Projects Development Private Limited (GPDPL) with GPDPL approved
by the Honorable High Court of Judicature at Bombay. In accordance with the aforesaid Scheme of Amalgamation, an
amount of ¥53.28 crore on account of Goodwill on amalgamation has been adjusted against the Surplus in the Statement
of Profit & Loss instead of amortising the same in the Statement of Profit & Loss over a period of five years. The cost and
expenses incurred in carrying out and implementing the scheme amounting to 20.22 crore has been adjusted against the
Surplus in the Statement of Profit & Loss. Had this amount been charged to the Statement of Profit & Loss, the profit for
the year would have been lower by 310.88 crore, the Goodwill would have been higher by %42.62 crore (net written down
value) and the Surplus in the Statement of Profit & Loss would have been higher by 342.62 crore.

2) We also draw attention to Note 33 (b) to the consolidated financial statements, regarding a loan of ¥43.91 crore to the GPL
ESOP Trust for purchase of the Company’s shares from Godrej Industries Limited equivalent to the number of options
granted under an Employee Stock Option Plan. As at March 31, 2016, the market value of the shares held by the GPL
ESOP Trust is lower than the holding cost of the shares by %8.81 crore (net of provision of %5.89 crore). The repayment of
the loans granted to the GPL ESOP Trust is dependent on the exercise of the options by the employees and the market price
of the underlying equity shares of the unexercised options at the end of the exercise period. In the opinion of the
management, the fall in value of the underlying equity shares is on account of current market volatility and the loss, if any,
can be determined only at the end of the exercise period, in view of which provision for the diminution is not considered
necessary in the financial statements.

3) We also draw attention to Note 39 regarding managerial remuneration paid during the year which exceeded the permissible
limit as prescribed under Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013 by 7.71 crore for which the Shareholders’ and the
Central Government’s approval are required.
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Other matter

We did not audit the financial statements of one subsidiary incorporated outside India, whose financial statements reflect total
assets of ¥1.13 crore as at March 31, 2016, total revenues of INil and net cash inflows amounting to ¥1.13 crore for the year
ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements. These financial statements have been audited by
another auditor whose report has been furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of this subsidiary and our report in terms of
sub-sections (3) and (11) of Section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiary, is based solely on the
reports of the other auditor.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on Other Legal & Regulatory Requirements below, is not
modified in respect of the above matter with respect to our reliance on the work done and the report of the other auditor.

Financial Year 2015
Emphasis of matter
We draw attention to the following matters in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements:

1) Note 1(i) to the consolidated financial statements, in respect of projects under long term contracts undertaken and/or
financed by the Company, we have relied upon the management’s estimates of the percentage of completion, costs to
completion and on the projections of revenues expected from projects owing to the technical nature of such estimates, on
the basis of which profits/losses have been accounted, interest income accrued and realizability of the construction work
in progress and project advances determined.

2) Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements, regarding the Scheme of Amalgamation of the wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company viz. Godrej Buildwell Private Limited (GBPL) with Godrej Projects Development Private Limited
(GPDPL) approved by The Honorable High Court of Judicature at Bombay. In accordance with the aforesaid Scheme of
Amalgamation, an amount of ¥137.05 crore on account of Goodwill on amalgamation has been adjusted from the General
Reserve and Surplus in the Statement of Profit & Loss instead of amortising the same in the Statement of Profit & Loss
over a period of five years. The cost and expenses incurred in carrying out and implementing the scheme amounting to
%0.38 crore have been directly adjusted from the Surplus in the Statement of Profit & Loss of the Transferee Company.
Had this amount been charged to the Statement of Profit & Loss, the profit for the year would have been lower by 327.79
crore, the Goodwill would have been higher by 2109.64 crore (net written down value) and the balance in the General
Reserve would have been higher by 29.80 crore and balance in Surplus would have been higher by 299.84 crore.

3) Note 32 (b) to the consolidated financial statements, In accordance with the opinion issued by the Expert Advisory
Committee (EAC) of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, on Consolidation of ESOP Trust in the standalone
financial statements, the Company had included the financial statements of the ESOP Trust for preparation of the
standalone financial statements during the previous year ended March 31, 2014. During the year The Securities and
Exchange Board of India (SEBI) has issued the “SEBI Share Based Employee Benefits Regulation 2014 (the Regulation)”
which requires the accounting treatment for employee share based payments to be based on the Guidance Note on
Accounting for Employee Share-Based Payments issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the Guidance
Note). Accordingly, based on the requirements of the Guidance Note, the Company has not considered the ESOP Trust for
inclusion in the standalone and consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2015. Consequently, these
financial statements do not include the assets and liabilities of the ESOP trust and to that extent, the previous year figures
are not comparable.

4) Note 32 (c) to the consolidated financial statements, regarding a loan of 344.02 crore to the GPL ESOP Trust for purchase
of the Company’s shares from Godrej Industries Limited equivalent to the number of options granted under an Employee
Stock Option Plan. As at March 31, 2015, the market value of the shares held by the GPL ESOP Trust is lower than the
holding cost of the shares by ¥13.33 crore (net of provision of ¥5.89 crore). The repayment of the loans granted to the GPL
ESOP Trust is dependent on the exercise of the options by the employees and the market price of the underlying equity
shares of the unexercised options at the end of the exercise period. In the opinion of the management, the fall in value of
the underlying equity shares is on account of current market volatility and the loss, if any, can be determined only at the
end of the exercise period, in view of which provision for the diminution is not considered necessary in the financial
statements.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For details of the related party transactions during (i) Fiscal 2019; (ii) Fiscal 2018; and (iii) Fiscal 2017, as per the requirements
under IND AS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, see “Financial Information - Fiscal 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements — Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2019 — Related Party
Transactions”, “Financial Information - Fiscal 2018 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements — Notes to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018 — Related Party Transactions” and “Financial Information - Fiscal
2017 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements —Notes to consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31,
2017 — Related Party Disclosures” on pages 262, 345 and 421, respectively.
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in equity shares involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider each of the following risk factors
together with all other information set forth in this Preliminary Placement Document before making an investment in our Equity
Shares. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only risks that we currently face. Additional risks and
uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also adversely affect our business,
prospects, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

If any or some combination of the following risks, or other risks that are not currently known or believed to be adverse, actually
occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could suffer, the trading price of, and the value of your
investment in, our Equity Shares could decline and you may lose all or part of your investment. In making an investment decision
with respect to this Issue, you must rely on your own examination of our Company and the terms of this Issue, including the
merits and risks involved.

Prospective investors should pay particular attention to the fact that our Company is incorporated under the laws of India and
is subject to a legal and regulatory environment, which may differ in certain respects from that of other countries. This
Preliminary Placement Document also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, assumptions, estimates and
uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result
of certain factors, including the considerations described below and elsewhere in this Preliminary Placement Document. See
“Forward-Looking Statements” on page 13.

Unless otherwise stated, all financial information of our Company used in this section has been derived from the Consolidated
Financial Statements for the financial years 2019, 2018 and 2017. Unless specified or quantified in the relevant risk factors
below, we are not in a position to quantify the financial or other implications of any of the risks described in this section.

Internal Risks

1. We enter into arrangements with third parties to acquire land or development rights and we cannot assure you that
such parties have acquired ownership rights or clean title in respect of these lands.

We typically enter into development agreements (which entails entering into an agreement with the owner(s) of the
land parcel(s) sought to be developed, with our Company usually being the sole developer), MoUs, limited liability
partnership agreements, redevelopment agreements and development management agreements, as the case may be,
with third parties prior to the development of the particular parcel of land.

Certain parties granting development rights to us or to our partners (in case of development management agreements)
may not have acquired ownership rights or clear title in respect of land that we have categorized as part of our Saleable
Area. In addition, we may face practical difficulties in verifying the title of a prospective seller of property or of the
landowner or developer. As each transfer in a chain of title may be subject to defects, our title and agreements we have
entered into with land owners for construction on, and development of, land may be subject to various defects which
we may not be aware of. Further, parties granting development rights pursuant to the development agreements and
development management agreements, may also have litigation, bankruptcy or such other proceedings pending with
respect to such land. For example, the agreement we have entered into with respect to our Forthcoming Project, Godrej
Kochi, provides that such agreement is subject to the Board for Industrial and Financial Reconstruction (“BIFR”)
granting our joint development partner permission for entering into the development agreement with us, and the
satisfaction of all claims of our joint development partner’s secured creditors over such land. The BIFR had granted
our joint development partner permission to enter into the agreement to develop the land, however this order was
challenged by shareholders of the joint development partner before the Appellate Authority for Industrial and Financial
Reconstruction (“AAIFR”) and the matter has since been disposed of by the AAIFR, the High Court of Kerala and
the High Court of Delhi.

Some of the third parties with whom we enter into agreements themselves acquire land from power of attorney holders,
who are authorized to transfer land on behalf of the owners of such land. We cannot assure you that such power of
attorney that has been granted is valid or entitles such power of attorney holder to exercise the right to transfer or grant
development rights over such land. Until ownership rights or clear title has been obtained, litigation is settled,
conditions as imposed have been complied with or a judgment has been obtained by a court of competent jurisdiction,
we may be unable to utilize such land according to the terms of such agreements, which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, under certain of our agreements, our development
partners are required to aggregate large parcels of land for us to commence developing the project. If these
development partners face any difficulties in obtaining or fail to obtain the requisite amount of land, the schedule of
development of that project could be substantially disrupted which could have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

2. Our development agreements do not convey any interest in the immovable property to us and only the development
right is transferred to us. Further, investments through development agreements involve risks, including the
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possibility that our development partners may fail to meet their obligations under the development agreement,
causing the whole project to suffer.

We have sought to develop our projects and certain parts of some of our projects primarily through development
agreements with landowners. 29 out of our 43 Ongoing Projects and 23 out of our 30 Forthcoming Projects, as of
March 31, 2019, covering an estimated Saleable Area of 112.49 million square feet, are owned through development
agreements.

Most of our development agreements confer rights on us to construct, develop, market and eventually sell the Saleable
Avrea to third party buyers. Such agreements do not convey any interest in the title of the immovable property to us
and only the development right is transferred to us. Under these agreements, we are typically entitled to a share in the
developed property or a share of the revenues or profits generated from the sale of the developed property, or a
combination of the above entitlements after adjusting the amount paid earlier, if any.

Investments through development agreements involve risks, including the possibility that our development partners
may fail to meet their obligations under the development agreement, causing the whole project to suffer. For instance,
the land-owners may be responsible for certain financial obligations towards the development of the project, procuring
certain regulatory approvals (such as approvals for change in use of the land for residential/commercial purposes),
furnishing documents of title to lenders for securing financing, paying taxes and local levies on the land, curing title
defects and settling title litigation within a stipulated period of time.

We cannot assure you that projects that involve collaboration with third parties will be completed as scheduled, or at
all, or that our ventures with these parties will be successful. For instance, with respect to one of our projects through
development agreement, Godrej Park, Bhandup, we have been served with a termination notice by the land owner
citing reasons including, unwillingness on our part to perform the agreement. The matter is currently before an
arbitration tribunal. For further details on the arbitration, see “Legal Proceedings” on page 185.

Further, our development agreements may permit us only partial control over the operations of the development under
certain circumstances. Where we do not hold the entire interest in a development, it may be necessary for us to obtain
consent from a development partner before the development partner makes or implements a particular business
development decision or distribute profits to us. These and other factors may cause our development partners to act in
a way that is contrary to our interests, or otherwise be unwilling to fulfill their obligations under our development
arrangements. Disputes that may arise between us and our development partners may cause delay in completion,
suspension or complete abandonment of a project, which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Some or all of our Ongoing Projects and Forthcoming Projects may be delayed or may not be completed by their
expected completion dates or at all. Such delays may adversely affect our reputation, business, results of operations
and financial condition.

Our Ongoing Projects and Forthcoming Projects may be subject to significant changes and modifications from our
currently estimated management plans and timelines as a result of factors outside our control, including, among others:

o defects or challenges to land titles;

failure or delay in securing necessary statutory or regulatory approvals and permits for us to develop our projects;
o inability to complete our projects in agreed time;

e availability of financing;

e occurrence of force majeure events including natural disasters and weather conditions;

o legal proceedings initiated against us, landowners or development partners by individuals or regulatory authorities
seeking to restrain development of our projects;

o reliance on third-party contractors and the ability of third parties to complete their services on schedule and in
budget; and

e regulatory changes such as changes in development regulations and challenges in interpreting and complying with
them.

Such changes and modifications to our timelines may have a significant impact on our Ongoing Projects and
Forthcoming Projects, and consequently, we may not develop these projects as contemplated, or at all, which may
have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations and financial condition.

44



Further, if there are any revisions made to the existing plans, approvals, permits or licenses granted for our Ongoing
Projects by relevant authorities, then we may, as a result of such revisions, be required to seek approval from the
existing customers, if and to the extent required by law, of such project, undertake unplanned rework, including
demolition on such projects or re-apply for and obtain key regulatory approvals. Such an occurrence may result in time
and cost overruns, including customer complaints and claims under the evolving regulatory framework of RERA,
which may have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations and financial condition.

The sale agreements into which we enter with our residential and commercial customers contain penalty clauses
wherein we are liable to pay a penalty for any delay in the completion and hand over of the units to the customers. In
accordance with RERA, the penalty payable for any delay is 2% over SBI’s highest marginal cost of lending rate.
Further, a buyer of a residential unit may also terminate his arrangements with us if we fail to deliver the unit as per
the timelines mentioned under the sale agreement, and we may be liable to refund the amount along with interest.

Under RERA, in case of a delay in completion of units within the stipulated time or delay in handover of possession
of units to a buyer under certain specified circumstances, the buyer is granted the right to withdraw from the project,
and is entitled to amounts paid, along with interest and specified compensation. Further, in the event a buyer does not
withdraw, the promoter is required to pay interest for every month of delay until handover of possession on the amount
received by the promoter. The completion date of the units and the rate of interest in case of default has to be
compulsorily included in the sale agreement. Further, delays from the timeline specified for the project’s RERA
registration may result in the revocation of the RERA registration.

Accordingly, in large residential projects, the aggregate of all penalties in the event of delays may adversely affect the
overall profitability of the project and therefore adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

In relation to projects where we are appointed as development manager, we are dependent upon the land owners
for certain parts of the development of such projects, which may restrict our ability to effectively perform our
services and recognize revenue.

For some of our projects we have been appointed as development manager pursuant to the development management
agreements. We do not typically own the land, obtain approvals or undertake any construction related activities in the
projects in which we act as development manager. We are dependent on the land owner(s) and developer(s) for
obtaining certain regulatory approvals. Any failure by the land owner(s) and developer(s) to obtain certain regulatory
approvals in a timely manner may delay the launch of our projects and our results of operations could be adversely
affected.

Further, in terms of certain development management agreements, if the delay in launching the project is attributable
to us, then the developer(s) may have a right to terminate the agreement and we may be required to refund the deposit
provided to us by such developers within specified time frames. Additionally, we may be required to assist the
developer(s) in obtaining financing for the construction and may also be responsible for additional capital
contributions, as and when the need arises.

Additionally, we require completion or occupancy certificates to be delivered to us upon completion of a project or a
phase thereof. Any failure or delay in obtaining such completion or occupancy certificates could adversely affect our
ability to occupy or handover such projects to the relevant parties in a timely manner or at all. For instance, one of our
completed projects pertaining to Grenville Park Cooperative Housing Society has not received an occupancy certificate
despite having been completed, due to certain ongoing litigation with the land owner. For further details, see “Legal
Proceedings” on page 185.

Further, our scope of work for such projects is limited and typically involves providing technical advice on planning,
design and architecture, managing, facilitating, assisting and supervising the construction and development, providing
marketing and other sales related services, in addition to associating our brand name to such projects. Accordingly,
we are substantially dependent on the land owner(s) and developer(s) of such project for the timely completion of such
projects and may not be able to effectively perform our services and recognize revenue from such projects in a timely
manner or at all, which may also adversely affect our reputation.

Our inability to acquire ownership of or development rights over suitable parcels of land may affect our future
development activities and our business prospects, financial condition and result of operations.

Land acquisition in India has historically been subject to regulatory restrictions on foreign investment. These
restrictions are gradually being relaxed and, combined with the growth strategies and financing plans of real estate
development companies as well as real estate investment funds in India, this is in some cases making suitable land
increasingly expensive. If we are unable to compete effectively for the acquisition of suitable land or development
rights, our business and prospects will be adversely affected.

45



Our ability to identify suitable parcels of land for development or redevelopment and subsequent sale of the constructed
area forms an integral part of our business. Our ability to identify land in the right location is critical for a project. Our
decision to acquire land or development rights over appropriate land involves taking into account the size and location
of the land, tastes of potential residential customers, requirements of potential commercial clients, economic potential
of the region, the proximity of the land to civic amenities and urban infrastructure, the willingness of landowners to
sell the land to us on terms which are commercially acceptable to us, government directives on land use, the ability to
obtain approvals for land acquisition and development and the availability and competence of third parties such as
architects, surveyors, engineers and contractors.

Further, our internal assessment process is based on information that is available or accessible to us. We cannot assure
you that such information is accurate, complete or current and that our internal assessment criteria will lead to entirely
accurate land identification or assessment. Further, any information considered to be accurate, complete or current
while doing our internal assessment may not continue to be accurate, complete or current at a future date. Any decision
based on inaccurate, incomplete or outdated information may result in certain risks and liabilities associated with the
acquisition of such land, which could adversely affect our business and growth prospects.

Any failure to identify and acquire suitable parcels of land for development or redevelopment in a timely manner may
reduce the number of projects that can be undertaken by us and thereby adversely affect our business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations. In addition, if demand for a project does not meet our expectations, we
may alter certain aspects of the project, provided we receive the requisite approvals, or abandon development of the
project, which would adversely affect our business and prospects.

We face uncertainty of title to our lands, which entails certain risks.

As part of our strategy to expand operations in four focus regions, Mumbai, Pune, Bengaluru and the National Capital
Region, we have initiated the process of acquiring land parcels in these regions. There is difficulty in obtaining title
guarantees in India as title records provide only for presumptive rather than guaranteed title. While title insurance has
recently become available in India to guarantee title or development rights in respect of land, it may not be available
on commercially acceptable terms. Therefore, we face a risk of loss of lands we believe we own or have development
rights over, which would have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, the original title to lands may often be fragmented, and land may have multiple owners. Certain lands may
have irregularities of title, such as non-execution or non-registration of conveyance deeds and inadequate stamping
and may be subject to encumbrances and litigation of which we may not be aware. Additionally, some of our projects
are executed through development agreements in collaboration with third parties where such third parties own such
land. Though we obtain title certificates and title opinions prior to executing a definitive agreement with respect to the
project, we cannot assure you that the persons with whom we enter into development agreements have clear title to
such lands. Further, the method of documentation of land records in India has not been fully computerized and are
updated manually. This could result in investigations of property records being time consuming and possibly
inaccurate.

While we appoint legal counsel to conduct due diligence and assessment exercises prior to acquiring land or entering
into development agreements with land owners and undertaking a project, we may not be able to assess or identify all
risks and liabilities associated with the land, such as non-conversion or improper conversion for the proposed land use,
faulty or disputed title, unregistered encumbrances or adverse possession rights, improperly executed, unregistered or
insufficiently stamped conveyance instruments in the property’s chain of title, ownership claims of family members
of prior owners, or other defects that we may not be aware of. As a result, some of the land under the development
agreements with land owners and future land may not have marketable title which has been independently verified.
As each transfer in a chain of title may be subject to these and other defects, our title and development rights over land
may be subject to various defects of which we are not aware. The processes followed by legal counsel who have
provided us title reports may be inconsistent in a number of respects, such as non-review of tax paid receipts, not
making invitations of claims by issuing public advertisements and non-review of encumbrance certificates. Further, in
the past we have received certain objections to the invitations of claims made by us by issuing public advertisements
and we cannot assure you that we will not receive similar objections in the future. For instance, in relation to project
Sundar Sangam, Mumbai an objection was received from the Metropolitan Municipal Corporation. We have also
received objections in relation to projects Godrej Park, Mumbai and Bavdhan, Pune, among others, wherein claims
have been made in relation to the rightful title of the property.

As a result, any acquisition or development decision made by us in reliance on our assessment of such information, or
the assessment of such information by a third party, is subject to risks and potential liabilities arising from the
inaccuracy of such information. If such information later proves to be inaccurate, any defects or irregularities of title
may result in the loss of title or development rights over land, and the cancellation of our development plans in respect
of such land. The uncertainty of title to land makes the acquisition and development process more complicated, may
impede the transfer of title, expose us to legal disputes and adversely affect our land valuations.
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Legal disputes in respect of land title can take several years and considerable expense to resolve if they become the
subject of court proceedings and arbitrations and their outcome can be uncertain. Under Indian law, a title document
is generally not effective, nor may be admitted as evidence in court, unless it has been registered with the applicable
land registry and applicable stamp duty has been paid in respect of such title document. The failure of prior landowners
to comply with such requirements may result in our failing to have acquired valid title or development rights with
respect to that land. If we or the owners of the land which is the subject of our development agreements are unable to
resolve such disputes with these claimants, we may lose our interest in the land, being our right to own or develop the
land, and we may have to make payments to these claimants as compensation. Further, such litigation could delay the
project and adversely affect our business and financial condition. The failure to obtain clear title to a particular plot of
land and the abandoning of the property as a result may adversely affect the success of a development for which that
plot is a critical part and may require us to write off expenditures in respect of the development.

We are dependent upon third party entities for the construction and development of our projects, which entails
certain risks including limited control over the timing or quality of services and sophisticated machinery or supplies
provided by such third parties.

We enter into agreements with third party entities to design and construct our projects in accordance with our
specifications and quality standards and under the time frames provided by us. We require the services of other third
parties, including architects, engineers, contractors and other suppliers of labour and materials. The timing and quality
of construction of the projects we develop depends on the availability and skill of these third parties, as well as
contingencies affecting them, including equipment, labour and raw material shortages and industrial actions such as
strikes and lockouts. We may only have limited control over the timing or quality of services and sophisticated
machinery or supplies provided by such third parties. If such contractors are unable to perform their contracts,
including completing our developments within the specifications, quality standards and time frames specified by us,
at the estimated cost, or at all, we may be required to incur additional cost or time to develop the property to appropriate
quality standards in a manner consistent with our development objective, which could result in reduced profits or, in
some cases, significant penalties and losses which we may not be able to recover from the relevant contractor. We
cannot assure you that the services rendered by any of our contractors will always be satisfactory or match our
requirements for quality, which may adversely affect our reputation, business, results of operations and cash flows.

For example, in certain of our developments, we are required to provide warranties for construction defects for the
period specified under the applicable law, and may be held liable to rectify such defects without further charges. Even
though our contractors provide us with certain warranties, such warranties may not be sufficient to cover our losses,
or our contractors could claim defenses not available to us against our customers, which could adversely affect our
financial condition and results of operations. Further, we cannot assure you that the services rendered by an